
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held in the Council Chamber,  Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, 
Kent on Wednesday, 10 November 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following 
agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Update on 2019/20 external audit / draft statement of accounts 2020/21 VERBAL 
UPDATE

6. General Fund Budget Monitoring Q2 (Pages 9 - 32)

7. HRA Budget Monitoring Q2 (Pages 33 - 50)

8. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review (Pages 51 - 64)



9. Corporate Risk Register - Mid Year Review (Pages 65 - 98)

10.CIPFA Financial Management Code Update (Pages 99 - 
120)

11.Procurement of External Audit (PSAA) (Pages 121 - 
134)

12.Audit and Counter Fraud Update (Pages 135 - 
156)

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

14.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

None. 

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Samir Jassal
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance and Audit Committee

Tuesday, 21 September 2021 7.30 pm

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Dakota Dibben 
Brian Francis
Samir Jassal
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade
Lyn Milner

Lisa Nyon
James Larkin

Anita Tysoe
Andrew Barnett 
Alexandra Jarvis   

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief 
Audit Executive) 
Service Manager, Town Centre & Culture Services
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)

Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officers (minutes)   

115. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley and Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran; 
Cllr Brian Francis and Cllr Lyn Milner attended as their respective substitutes.

116. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 20 July 2021 were agreed and signed by the Chair. 

117. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Sarah Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Directors of 
Rosherville Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

118. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2020/21 

The Service Manager, Town Centre & Culture Services provided the Committee with an 
update on the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for 
Gravesham and highlighted the following: 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 21.09.2021

2

 The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) publish an annual 
review letter summarising the complaints and enquiries they have dealt with in 
relation to Gravesham, along with any action taken and whether the complaint was 
investigated. 

 For year ending 31 March 2021, a total of 11 complaints or enquires were received, 
the majority relating to Housing, Planning, Environmental, Highway and Adult Social 
Care.   

 Due to the pandemic, the Ombudsmen extended their timescales for dealing with 
complaints.  Gravesham’s numbers were slightly lower than previous years but 
continued to respond within their set timescales. 

 Of those 11 contacts, decisions were made for 8 of them as set out below. The 
remaining 3 cases were not closed during the 2020-21 financial year and will 
therefore be reported in the next annual review letter.

o Advice was given for 3 contacts
o 4 were referred to the Council as premature, i.e. the complaint process had 

not been concluded.
o 1 complaint was investigated but not upheld as there was no finding of 

maladministration
 It is also worth Members noting that the Corporate Complaint Procedure has recently 

been reviewed and changes introduced to recognise good practice and guidance; in 
particular the Housing Ombudsman recommendation that complaint procedures 
should not have more than 2 stages. Gravesham currently has a 3-stage process 
which was implemented in September 2011. Following a recent review, changes 
were identified to reflect best practice, ensure the procedure remains fit for purpose, 
and more importantly, continues as an effective mechanism for putting things right 
and learning from complaints, therefore, Gravesham will revert back to a 2 stage 
process. 

Following Members comments and questions, the Service Manager, Town Centre & Culture 
Services highlighted the following:

 With reference to the letter provided by the Chair, Commission for Local 
Administration in England it was encouraging to see the figure of upheld investigated 
complaints was 0%, is this comparable with other Local Authorities?  The Service 
Manager, Town Centre and Culture Services informed the Committee that this figure 
is comparable to similar sized but not neighbouring Authorities.   Kent Authorities are 
currently using the 2 stage complaint process. 

 The Chair asked why Housing has the most complaints and the Service Manager, 
Town Centre and Culture Services explained they could be enquiries rather than 
complaints (as the Ombudsmen only contact us when they require specific 
information about a case) but the level of Housing related enquiries is proportional 
based on the size of the stock.  

The Chair thanked the Service Manager, Town Centre and Culture Services and the 
Committee.

Resolved that Members noted the report which was for information and to support 
transparency and learning from complaints.

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 21.09.2021

3

119. Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

The Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
provided the Committee with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 July 2021 including:

 Resources – how resources have been used during this time and the impact of 
sickness, resignations and a period of vacancy.  

 Results of planned Audit and Counter Fraud work – all reviews from 2020-21 
have now been finalised and progress with the reviews on the 2021-22 plan is 
included in the update. 

 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme – PM13a – proportion of agreed 
assurance assignments – delivered is now 25% and PM13b underway is now 13%.

 Review of Audit and Counter Fraud Plan – there is a currently projected loss of 
approximately 38 days from expected audit resources. One service has requested 
that a review be postponed to 2022-23, which will account for 15 of the days lost, so 
a request for the review of the Performance Management framework to be deferred 
until 2022-23 is detailed in section seven. 

 Recommendations – the report contains details of progress with all 
recommendations and specific updates for all those more than six months overdue. 
Management Team have agreed revised implementation dates for a number of these 
recommendations where there have been circumstances beyond the control of the 
service since the original dates were agreed.

Following Members comments and questions, the Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) highlighted the following:

 In regards to the IT Asset Management and the reason for the red opinion, the Head 
of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) reminded 
the Committee that the findings for the review were included in the annual report, 
which was brought to the June Committee.  The pandemic was the main driver for 
the lack of compliance with usual controls. The need to roll out new kit as quickly as 
possible to enable staff members to work from home, so the usual procedures were 
relaxed.  The IT team are currently working on getting records brought up to date.  
The Chair explained to the Committee that IT had attended a previous meeting and 
discussed the Covid-19 Pandemic assets. 

Resolved that Members approved the amendments to the agreed work plan as detailed in 
section seven of appendix 2 and endorsed the revised implementation dates for overdue 
recommendations as detailed in section eight of appendix 2. 

120. National Fraud Initiative Update 

The Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented the Committee with an update on the work completed in relation to the data 
matches received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercises 2019-20 and 2020-21 
including.

 As of 31 August, there were still four matches from the 2019-20 exercise open but 
these have since been closed following completion of enquiries. 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 21.09.2021

4

 This means the final outturn from the exercise was the removal of 86 single person 
discounts, eight of which were replaced with alternative discounts, usually because 
the second adult was a student. This has resulted in additional liability of 
approximated £87,513 and an additional £38,387 in future years.  

 Progress in relation to the 2020-21 exercise is more limited than the service would 
have hoped at this point in the year but the overhang of the delayed start to 2019-20 
exercise, as well as the periods of vacancy within the counter fraud team have had a 
significant impact. The new intelligence analyst is now in post, so the service are 
confident that there will be more progress to report in the next update to the 
Committee.  

Following Members comments and questions, the Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) highlighted the following:

 Item 1.3 Housing, (tenancies, right to buy and waiting list) the reference should be 
waiting register not waiting list. The Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) will amend in future reports. 

The Chair thanked the Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief 
Audit Executive).

Resolved that the Committee noted the report.

121. External Audit 2019/20 & Draft Accounts 2020/21 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) gave a verbal update and highlighted the 
following:  

 The external audit for 2019-20 has not yet been concluded.  The two outstanding 
items are the accounting treatment of the St George’s Shopping Centre and the 
valuation of HRA dwellings. External advice has been sought with regard to the St 
George’s Shopping Centre transaction and once the Council has received this 
external advice, Members will be updated. 

 The finance team are drafting a statement of accounts for 2020-21, however until the 
external audit of the 2019-20 accounts has finished the draft statements cannot be 
finalised.   The finance team are working closely with the external auditors to bring 
matters to a close. 

122. General Fund Budget Monitoring Q1 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) presented the Committee with a report that 
updated them on actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 
2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control 
activity.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) updated Members on other key areas of financial 
performance that may have an impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or Financial Statements including:

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 21.09.2021

5

 The General Fund Q1 2020-21 has had minimal movement against the budget in Q1 
and at this early stage many nil variances are therefore being reported. At the end of 
Q1, there is a projected adverse variance for the year of £43,180.

 The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will take some time to show in the accounts.  
It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government supports starts to unwind in 2021-22.

 There is a favourable variance of £81k in the Corporate Services Directorate.  This is 
due to expenditure within the General Fund Capital Programme during 2020-21 
being lower than originally budgeted, which meant that there was a reduced 
borrowing requirement than initially envisaged.

 The working balances and reserves amount totals £11.65m, this includes the 
minimum general fund of £2m and additional general fund reserve of £3.25m gives a 
forecast of £6.4m.

 The general working balance for earmarked reserves for the general fund is 
£11.77m.  £4.4m relates to the budgeted drawdown within the NNDR Collection 
Fund. This is a unique situation for 2021-22, and is due to Collection Fund 
accounting arrangements arising from the Business Rates position attributable to the 
Covid-19 Pandemic in 2020-21.

 The General Fund Capital Programme on page 67 set out the £57m expenditure with 
£6m of actual expenditure which is centred on land acquisitions and large projects.

This report is for information only

123. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Q1 

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) presented the Committee with a report that 
updated members on actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital 
budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary 
control activity.

Members were updated on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s HRA Business Plan or Financial Statements

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) outlined the key points from the report and 
drew Members attention to the following: 

 Under 3.1.1 Housing Revenue Account at the end of Q1 the forecast reflects a net 
favourable variance to the original budget.

 Under 3.2.1 Vacancy Management the original budget was £100,000 and at the end 
of Q1 the actual staff spend was £135k lower than originally budgeted. 

 Under 3.5.1 Interest Cost Savings due to the delays in the new build programme, 
there was a lower external borrowing requirement in 2020-21. This has reduced the 
anticipated cost of borrowing in the current financial year, resulting in a favourable 
variance.

 Under 3.9.1 the HRA working balances is expected to maintain its forecast of  £3m.
 Under 4 Housing Capital Programme the scheme totals £24m with the General Fund 

Housing coming in at £2.9m. However, officers have started to indicate supply chain 
issues which may affect the delivery of the 2021-22 Housing Capital programme and 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 21.09.2021

6

the revenue repairs and maintenance spend.  Further details will be reported in the 
Q2 monitoring report. 

 Under section 4.5.3 the report details progress of the current new build programme 
and a summary of the number of properties that have been delivered since the 
original new build programme scheme in 2012. 

 Details of the progress for Disabled Facility Grants was discussed.  

Following Members comments and questions the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) highlighted the following:

 With the huge rise in costs for raw materials has this will be factored in to future 
budgets.  The Principal Accountant (Housing and Exchequer) explained that this 
particular budget was set in February 2021 and the expectations of future costs was 
filtering through.  At the budget setting session for 2022-23 these factors will be taken 
into account. 

 In section 4.9.4 regarding the distribution of the 56 Disabled Facility Grants awaiting 
approval. The Principal Accountant (Housing and Exchequer) explained that it is a 
long process from the time Gravesham received the application to the time the grant 
can be awarded and the team is working hard to process these grants. The Principal 
Accountant confirmed that Housing Officers would be approached for comment and 
this will be circulated by email outside of the meeting.

 The Chair thanked the team for their work during the Covid-19 Pandemic and making 
the processes so resilient. 

  
The Chair thanked the Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer).

Resolved the Committee noted the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8pm.

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

    Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Report for Cabinet
Report for Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 08 November 2021 / 10 November 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2021/22 – Quarter Two

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements.
To inform members of a proposed in year addition to the Capital programme.

Recommendation:

Cabinet to:

Approve the addition of the St Georges Creative Hub to the current year capital 
programme as set out in sections 4.2 and 4.3 of this report.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th September 2021, as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or results in a 
permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved by 
Management Team

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, there is a projected underspend for the year of £235,300. 
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year are 
largely attributable to the projected salary underspend, movements within the parking 
income budget, and several other variations across income lines.

2.2. As reported in the 2020/21 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a 
favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £147,290 to be approved for carry 
forward into 2021/22. 

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £11.93m, constituted of 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £6.68m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in earmarked reserves 
of £8.62m. This reflects the start of the year position being £19.08m, and projected to be 
£10.46m at year-end. Of this movement, £4.41m relates to the NNDR Collection Fund 
Equalisation Reserve - see section 3.10.5 for further details. Other significant 
movements arise from reserve-funded items carried forward within the Capital 
Programme from 2020/21 e.g. Waste Freighters, DSO Vehicles and IT Infrastructure 
projects.

2.5. It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government supports starts to unwind during 2021/22.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £57.32m, including £30.60m 
relating to The Charter, £5.15m for the St George’s Centre, £4m for a New Leisure 
Centre, and a combined £6.95m relating to Property/Land Acquisition schemes.  Actual 
spend, as at the end of Quarter Two was £7.98m. 

2.8. An in year addition is proposed to the agreed Capital Programme with regard to the St 
George’s Creative Hub. Details of which are found in sections 4.2 and 4.3 of this report.

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2021/22 was £6,420,640, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £98,270 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Page 10



3

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 
September 2021. 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
2021/22 (£)

Variation 
2021/22 (£)

All Directorate - Salaries 0 (250,000) (250,000)
Chief Executive 168,160 168,160 0
Communities 3,850,700 3,877,220 26,520
Corporate Services 2,917,210 2,821,580 (95,630)
Environment 5,511,040 5,511,040 0
Housing 1,225,680 1,225,680 0
Items carried forward from 2020/21 0 147,290 147,290
Non-Directorate Specific 888,960 888,960 0
Interest and Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) 0
Government Grant Funding (1,308,260) (1,308,260) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (7,148,150) (7,346,240) (198,090)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 311,050 311,050 0
Transactions below the line 776,250 910,860 134,610
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 6,420,640 6,185,340 (235,300)

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) 0
Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) 0
Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) 0
New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) 0
Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 0
Use of Working Balances 98,270 98,270 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (235,300) (235,300)

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – SALARIES 

3.2.1 Staffing: £250k favourable variance – the General Fund staffing budget for 2021/22
incorporates a vacancy allowance for £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will 
occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-
day business activities, as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. The projection is an underspend of £600k, therefore giving rise to the net 
favourable variance of £250k.

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £27k adverse variance

Page 11



4

3.4.1. Parking Income: £27k net adverse variance – the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
continues to have a detrimental impact on the Council’s income streams, particularly 
within parking services. Although parking charges – both on-street and within car parks 
– have been levied throughout the financial year to date, a continued reduction in the 
number of commuters, town centre workers and visitors to the town centre has led to an 
overall projected income deficit of £222k, compared to the original budget for 2021/22. 
However, it is worth noting that the Council had already factored into the original budget 
an expected loss for 2021/22 of £394k, and therefore the gross income deficit compared 
to pre-Covid levels, would be £616k.

3.4.2. In order to help Local Authorities mitigate income losses arising from the pandemic and 
associated restrictions, the Government has continued its Sales, Fees & Charges 
Compensation Scheme which began in 2020/21, and run a similar initiative for the first 
quarter of this year i.e. covering the period April-June 2021. The estimate for parking 
services is compensation of £195k, therefore giving rise to the net adverse variance 
across the service of £27k.

3.4.3. Street Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £73k (£23k from the NNDR 
Growth Fund Reserve, and £50k from Revenue Grants not yet applied) has been 
released in 2021/22 to facilitate the continuation of a Street Lighting project which 
commenced during 2020/21. This involves the conversion, where possible, of Council-
owned street and amenity lighting to LED lighting, as well as providing for maintaining 
and fixing existing assets.

3.4.4. Leisure Services: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £22k was initially made 
available during 2020/21 to support the furtherance of leisure development activities. 
This incorporated a refresh of the 2016 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, and a 
subsequent feasibility study to investigate the future of existing leisure provisions within 
the borough. The study includes an evaluation of prospective future capital and revenue 
costs as well as a management options appraisal to assist the Council in determining 
the optimum way forward. £6k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, with the 
remaining £16k now released to enable the studies to be completed during 2021/22.

3.4.5. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £33k was initially 
made available during 2020/21 to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to 
extend the number of units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporated a 
combination of electrical, extraction and kitchen works, designed to extend food-trading 
capabilities to an additional six units, and linked with the Market Strategy, which was 
formally adopted in May 2020. £22k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, 
with the remaining £11k now released to complete the works during 2021/22.

3.5      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £96k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE
3.5.1 Interest Payable: £81k favourable variance – expenditure within the General Fund 

Capital Programme during 2020/21 was lower than originally budgeted, which meant 
that there was a reduced borrowing requirement than initially envisaged. This is turn led 
to lower associated interest costs, which has continued into 2021/22 generating a 
positive budgetary impact. Additionally, where borrowing has been required, it has been 
at lower interest rates than originally budgeted, and therefore a combination of these two 
factors has led to a favourable projected variance of £81k in 2021/22.

3.5.2 Rosherville LATCO Service Level Agreement (SLA) Income: £15k favourable 
variance – as part of arrangements to facilitate the work of Rosherville Limited and its 
subsidiary organisations, the Council provides a range of services which are recharged 
to the company on a quarterly basis. These include services such as Finance, 
Communications and Information Technology services where officers undertake specific 
duties on behalf of Rosherville Limited as part of the SLA. The majority of the functions 

Page 12



5

recharged sit within the Corporate Services directorate, and thus the £15k projected 
additional income for 2021/22 is shown here for clarity of reporting.

3.5.3 Microsoft 365 Technical Support: Neutral variance – as part of the Council’s 
commitment to technology enhancement as well as facilitating a range of agile working 
mechanisms, Microsoft 365 has recently been installed. In order to support the rollout of 
this substantial project, provide resilience within IT services and allow the new system to 
generally bed-in, reserve funding has been made available to finance the engagement 
of two Microsoft 365 Project Support Officers, each with 6 month contacts during 
2021/22.

3.5.4 Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – following the success of the “Recycling 
On the Go” project which was trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens during 2020/21, the 
scheme is now being extended across other park areas – Riverside Leisure Area, 
Woodlands Parks and Camer Park. Resultantly, £28k has been made available from the 
Climate Change Reserve to support this work, which will enable the purchase of dual 
compartment litter and recycling bins, increasing both the litter capacity available as well 
as the aesthetic appearance at these locations.

3.6       ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE  – NIL VARIANCE
3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report. 

3.7       HOUSING DIRECTORATE –  NIL VARIANCE
3.7.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 13



6

3.8 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2020/21 – £147,290

3.8.1 The following items from 2020/21 have been approved for carry forward to 2021/22 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

Summary of General Fund 2020/21 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2021/22

Communities Environmental Health £6,100 Statutory Air Quality Action Plan required by DEFRA
Communities Community Engagement £15,000 Match funding of Cultural Waterside Grant - grant decision 

awaited. To assist with welcoming back to town centre 
following easing of Covid-19 restrictions.

Communities Basecamp £7,610 MOD Funding to be used for future armed forces event.
Communities Town Centre £14,250 Light Festival postponed from 2020/21.
Communities Town Centre £21,000 Investment in Town Centre activities as part of welcome 

back post restrictions.
Communities Arts Development £16,140 Align funds to the 2021/22 Arts & Cultural delivery 

programme, following cessation of Gravesham Arts 
Council SLA during 2020.

Communities Arts Development £3,370 Ticket sales from outdoor events to be used to fund 
events in 2021/22.

Communities Regulatory Services £19,500 Digital offering improvements to enhance overall service 
delivery - IT software & equipment.

Environment Cemeteries £9,320 Major works planned for Northfleet Cemetery in 2021/22.
Housing Private Housing £35,000 Housing Stock Condition Survey.

Total carry-forward requests £147,290

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2020/21

 
3.9       FUNDING STREAMS – £63K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £198k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Communities and Corporate Services Directorate 
sections above.

3.9.2 Retirement Benefits: £40k favourable variance – in addition to the Past Service 
pension lump sum payable to KCC (Kent County Council), which is set on a triennial 
basis by pension actuaries, the Council also holds a budget to make individual 
retirement benefit payments for former employees through KCC.  This budget has 
consistently generated favourable year-end variances in recent years, and similarly a 
£40k favourable variance is now projected in 2021/22. Ongoing provision in this area will 
be reviewed as part of the current budget-setting process.

3.9.3 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £23k 
favourable variance – the MRP charge for 2021/22 is based on the Council’s 
cumulative capital spend that is financed from either internal or external borrowing up to 
the end of 2020/21.  As the capital spend in 2020/21 on schemes financed from these 
sources was lower than anticipated at the time of setting the 2021/22 budget, there is a 
resulting projected favourable variance relating to MRP in 2021/22 of £23k.

Page 14



7

3.10 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.10.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 11,283,080 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 311,050 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund 98,270 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2020/21) 235,300 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2021) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 11,927,700 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2021) 6,677,700 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.10.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2021 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 465 (232) 200 433 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163 (860) 100 403 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657 (2,016) 359 --  
Corporate Priorities Reserve 535 (112) 423 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123 13 136 
Elections Reserve 74 18 92 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075 (4,406) 669 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 371 (290) 100 181 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 474 (425) 132 181 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223 (400) 221 1,044 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 375 (376) 226 225 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 140 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 57 297 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 1,240 1,240 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 1,147 (15) 1,132 
 Service Review Reserve 83 (50) 33 
 Playgrounds Reserve 136 (160) 69 45 
Decriminalisation Reserve 228 (228) --  
Enterprise Reserve 151 (353) 375 173 
Climate Change Reserve 485 (28) 457 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 16,585 (9,951) 1,870 8,504 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,494 (535) --  1,959 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 19,079 (10,486) 1,870 10,463 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 15



8

3.10.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.4.3, 3.4.4, 3.4.5, 3.5.3 and 3.5.4.

3.10.4 Other reserve movements are initially forecast as per the original budget, and are 
subsequently updated as further expenditure plans are established. This can include 
use for both capital and revenue purposes, and incorporates any potential re-phasing of 
capital schemes between current and future years.

3.10.5 Of the overall projected net movement in earmarked reserves of around £7.3m, £4.4m, 
which equates to around 60% of this total, relates to the budgeted drawdown within the 
NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve. This is a unique situation for 2021/22, and 
is due to Collection Fund accounting arrangements arising from the Business Rates 
position attributable to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21.

3.10.6 The additional Business Rates Section 31 grants received in 2020/21 (to compensate 
the Council for the loss of Business Rates income as a result of the extended retail relief 
given to retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, and nursery providers to support them 
through the pandemic), were transferred to the reserve at year-end 2020/21. The 
legislation that governs Collection Fund accounting means the related deficit as a result 
of the loss of Business Rates income during 2020/21 is not chargeable to the Council’s 
General Fund until 2021/22. As a result, the £4.4m reflected in the table above, will be 
drawn down from the reserve to offset this deficit in 2021/22 and is therefore not an 
available resource to the Council.

Page 16



9

3.11  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.11.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The MTFP 
shows that our budgeted expenditure will exceed our income for the foreseeable future. 
The MTFP is continually monitored to ensure that the financial position of the council is 
accurately reflected. The Medium Term Financial Plan showing the position as at 30 
September 2021 is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

    Wider Risk Implications

Homelessness Reduction Act 

3.11.2 The Council has a duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) 2018 to prevent 
and relieve homelessness, and facilitate temporary accommodation until alternative 
accommodation is secure or relief duty ends. Over the last 18 months, there has been a 
steady increase in the demand for temporary accommodation requests and 
homelessness provision, exacerbated by circumstances arising from the COVID-19 
pandemic. As of writing, there are 138 households in temporary accommodation, of 
which 65 are within Gravesham’s own stock, and 73 are in nightly paid accommodation. 
Increasing demand coupled with the decreasing supply of suitable accommodation 
locally inevitably means that the service is now reliant on nightly paid options both in and 
outside of the Gravesham borough which is challenging the temporary accommodation 
budget.

3.11.3 Since the introduction of the HRA Act in 2018, the Council has been in receipt of various 
grants from central government, which have supported this work, for example Flexible 
Homelessness Grant, Homeless Prevention Grant as well as New Burdens funding. The 
current budget for temporary accommodation is £570,960 and comprises £50,000 as the 
Council’s own contribution, £320,960 Homeless Prevention Grant, and £200,000 
forecast Housing Benefit temporary accommodation income receipts. As at the end of 
Quarter Two, actual expenditure was around £265k, and therefore it is hoped that 
service demand will remain within the overall budgetary framework. This will continue to 
be monitored and updated in future reports. 

Sales Fees & Charges Compensation Scheme

3.11.4 Final payment relating to the 2020/21 Sales Fees and Charges compensation scheme 
was received on 5th October, with a further claim due to be submitted by 22nd October 
relating to the period April-June 2021. The parking element of this claim is referenced in 
section 3.4.1 with the overall compensation expected to be around £410k. This will 
make a contribution to income deficits rather than providing full compensation, with 
income budgets continuing to be monitored over the rest of the financial year

Planning Fee Income

3.11.5 Within Planning, the position for application fee income as at the end of Quarter Two, 
indicates the budgeted level will be achieved in 2021/22, however this could be affected 
going forward into future years.

The Woodville

3.11.6 For The Woodville, a balanced position is currently projected, albeit the original budget 
for 2021/22 already incorporated an anticipated income reduction of £323k.  Through a 

Page 17



10

combination of this, general overhead expenditure reductions, the Sales, Fees & 
Charges Compensation scheme, and anticipated income streams realised as the 
cinema and theatre reopen, it is currently envisaged that a neutral budget position will 
be realised at year-end. This will continue to be monitored closely over the coming 
months.

Car Parking Income

3.11.7 In the area of Car Parking income, the Council had already budgeted for a decrease in 
income of £394k this financial year. Current monitoring as set out in section 3.4.1 shows 
the gross deficit being £616k, and therefore the net deficit, compared to the original 
budget is £222k.

HGV Drivers

3.11.8 National Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) driver shortages are affecting waste collections 
across the County, compounded by recent problems with fuel supplies. The Assistant 
Director (Operations) has indicated the Council is currently in a strong position to 
continue to provide a full waste service to residents, including Garden Waste and 
additional bulky waste collections. This is being facilitated via extra agency resources, 
funded by the additional income achieved from the 2020/21 Inter Authority Agreement 
with Kent County Council, whereby the Council receives a share of income for local 
recycling targets met.

Local Government Pay Settlement

3.11.9 Discussions regarding a potential pay rise for Local Government staff applicable from 1st 
April 2021 are ongoing, with the latest pay offer being an increase of 1.75%. The impact 
of this to the General Fund salaries budget would be an initial additional cost of around 
£210k, which would then increase on a compound basis over the course of the MTFP. 
This is not expected to impact the salaries underspend for 2021/22 as set out in section 
3.2.1, but will need to considered and reflected as part of the budget-setting process.

Spending Review 2021

3.11.10 On 7 September the Chancellor launched the spending review for 2021, which will 
  conclude on 27 October alongside the Autumn Budget. This will be a three year review 
  and will set the Governments’ resource and capital budgets for 2022-23 to 2024-25
  This could indicate that a muti-year settlement for local government may follow.

3.11.11 The Government has announced several work streams that the spending review will  
  cover. These are:

 Ensuring strong and innovative public services
 Levelling up across the UK
 Leading the transition to net zero
 Advancing Global Britain
 Delivering on Growth

3.11.12 Details of spending review announcements and what this means for local government 
 will be reported to members in due course. 

Page 18



11

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two. This includes the revised original budget for 2021/22, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme 2021/22 
Original 
Budget             

£

2021/22 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2021/22 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2021/22 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance            

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 615,000 307,350 922,350 44,100 (878,250)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 (14,830)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 232,000 292,560 524,560 77,610 (446,950)
Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 100,000 100,000 2,660 (97,340)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 (17,850) 90,840 9,410 (81,430)
Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 0 159,870 22,990 (136,880)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 40,000 40,000 5,610 (34,390)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 3,590,190 0 3,590,190 0 (3,590,190)
St George's Centre 5,151,550 (480) 5,151,070 0 (5,151,070)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 3,730 3,730 0 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 200,000 44,570 244,570 1,400 (243,170)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 (47,800)
Back up Generator 60,000 0 60,000 0 (60,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 0 225,010 225,010 54,750 (170,260)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 12,110 (6,460)
Purchase of Freighters 0 400,000 400,000 410,400 10,400
Enforcement of Private Housing 0 20,040 20,040 10,210 (9,830)
IT Infrastructure Assets 200,000 89,490 289,490 19,490 (270,000)
The Charter 27,295,500 3,299,680 30,595,180 7,193,740 (23,401,440)
Barrock Row Public Conveniences 0 4,340 4,340 2,910 (1,430)
Website Content Management System 65,000 0 65,000 24,000 (41,000)
MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop 37,000 0 37,000 42,120 5,120
Street Cleaning Machine 49,000 0 49,000 49,000 0
New Leisure Centre 4,000,000 0 4,000,000 0 (4,000,000)

52,360,790 4,958,240 57,319,030 7,982,510 (49,336,520)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – the upgrade of Civic Centre LED lighting is ongoing 
and nearing completion.  A programme is in place to complete installation in November 
2021, with the intention to be fully operational by Christmas.  The Cascade Leisure 
Centre roof works are complete, and are currently awaiting final inspection and sign off, 
with the majority of monies paid out recoverable from insurers. For Brookvale Depot 
roofing, it is now confirmed that proposed works are exempt from Building Regulations 
requirements, as they are deemed repairs. A meeting is being held mid-October with the 
contractor and product manufacturer to agree specification, and to enable works to be 
called off from the framework agreement the Council has access to, with a view to 
commencing works immediately.

Page 19



12

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – a number of improvements to the Cemeteries 
are currently underway. The work is expected to be complete by the end of the 2021/22 
financial year.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the vehicle fleet replacement plan is currently 
under review to take account of the potential purchase of electric vehicles.  Officers are 
awaiting outcome of this review from the Energy Saving Trust before any electric 
vehicles are purchased.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – Kent County Council approval has been received to 
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street bus gate 
and a legal agreement is in place.  Confirmation of the programme for installation is 
awaited, prior to capital expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – the installation of wheelie bins in flats for 
recycling is underway.  A project plan is in place relating to HRA properties, whilst 
discussions are underway with private blocks of flats to ensure recycling is available in 
all flats across the borough.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – an order for his project has been placed, 
and work has started on the implementation of the Street Cleansing Software.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the 20-year replacement programme is in 
place and has been reviewed. This will progress in quarter 3 of 2021/22. 

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – contractors have installed the equipment but final 
commissioning is awaited. The project will not be invoiced until all works are completed.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation - work to redesign the Brookvale depot and deliver 
commercial accommodation at the site is not currently being progressed, pending further 
consideration of the operational use and configuration of the wider Brookvale site.

 
 Property Acquisition Programme – no property acquisitions were considered in the 

first half of the financial year.

 Land Acquisition Programme – no land acquisition opportunities were considered in 
the first half of the financial year.

 St George’s Centre – there are currently no further works planned to the St Georges 
Shopping Centre.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes - the flumes are available for use as part of the 
swimming timetable programme, but a small amount of remedial works remain to the 
external flume steelworks.

 Heritage Assets – capital expenditure to date relates to surveys and site investigations 
in support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets.  Preparations 
are being made for works to the St Andrew’s Riverwall and maintenance works to the 
Gravesend Blockhouse.  Expressions of interest are being finalised for submission of 
projects for funding to the National Heritage Lottery Fund.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – the vast majority of the gym equipment has been 
replaced as reported earlier in the year. However, a decision was made along with 
GCLL to hold back on the replacement spin bike programme whilst customer 
participation numbers could be monitored. It is still anticipated that these will be replaced 

Page 20



13

later in the financial year once the leisure centres are able to ascertain demand for class 
activities going forwards.

 Back-up Generator – given potential plans for the building and new ways of working, 
officers are investigating alternative options other than the possibility of used 
replacement equipment.

 Parking Machines – options are currently being appraised for the replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines. Steps are being taken to make a recommendation 
for decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs – no requests to utilise these funds have been made in 
the first half of the financial year.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – Cabinet approved a working capital drawdown of 
£54,750 by Rosherville Limited in September 2021. This was to continue the work of 
Rosherville Property Development Limited in bringing forward The Charter development.

 
 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – the Council is in active discussions with the Elizabeth 

Huggins Cottages Charity to implement the decision taken by Full Council.  This will see 
the loan facility provided by the council opened for Phase One of the planned 
development at the site, consisting of the demolition of four units and construction of 14 
units.  Works commenced on site on 1 October 2021.

 Parking Software – the back office parking software and the virtual permit system has 
been implemented and is now live. The environmental enforcement module and the bus-
gate enforcement module have not been implemented yet. Both are due to go live in this 
financial year.

 Purchase of Freighters – two new vehicles have now been delivered. The current 
replacement programme has been suspended until the results of the Consistency in 
Household Waste Consultation have been released, so any potential effect to service 
delivery can be assessed.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – this programme of work has now been 
completed and all invoices relating to the project have been paid.

 IT Infrastructure Assets – over the previous quarter officers have replaced all of the 
thin client devices at the Civic Centre with laptops to support the new telephone system. 
Running alongside this, older desktop PC’s (3 years old or more) have been replaced 
with new laptops. Citrix software to support homeworking has been re-licensed, but 
hardware renewal and moving some elements to the cloud will be completed next 
quarter. Officers have completely replaced the backup system at the Civic Centre and 
Gun Wharf (Medway) to provide better protection in the event of a ransomware cyber-
attack. The telephony project has also commenced although not all expenditure has 
been incurred. The majority of costs falling due in the next quarter.

 The Charter – works continue on site to bring forward the planned development, 
focusing on groundworks and works required to utilities on site.

 Barrock Row Public Conveniences – this facility was brought forward by the Council 
to enhance the wider Kent County Council bus interchange project and relates to the 
inclusion of public toilets. £4k was rolled over to the 2021/22 budget to cover the 
remaining cost towards the electricity connection and the expected cost from Southern 
Water for the new facility, with payment being made during August. Additional 

Page 21



14

construction and reinstatement works are now being considered, and will be reported 
under the “Essential Repairs to Buildings” budget in due course.

 Website Content Management System – the website CMS project started in this 
quarter, and it is anticipated that the project will be complete by May 2022. There will be 
some costs incurred this year but the majority will fall in Q1 2022/23.

 MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop – the MOT Lane has been installed and is now in 
operation.

 Street Cleaning Machine – the machine has been purchased and is now in general 
operation around the town centre.

 New leisure Centre – a feasibility study on future leisure centre provision is anticipated 
to be completed in the autumn, including an outline business proposal and design for a 
new leisure centre at Cascades. 

4.2 The St George’s Creative Hub will be a new arts facility in the heart of Gravesend town 
centre, offering gallery space, a range of activities linked with an active cultural 
programme, and workspace for creative businesses. This will be delivered through the 
redevelopment of two vacant adjacent units in the St George’s Centre, which are owned 
by Gravesham Borough Council and which together occupy a prominent site. The 
project forms a core part of Gravesham’s Arts and Cultural Strategy and complements 
existing cultural spaces in Gravesend and an extensive programme of events, festivals 
and educational and cultural outreach. The total cost of this project is £474,527 which is 
intended to be funded via a grant secured from South East Local Enterprise Partnership 
(SELEP) of £323,204, with the balance being met from S106 contributions and revenue 
grants unapplied.

4.3 Section 4.4.6 of the Financial Procedure Rules permits Cabinet to incur, without 
Council’s prior approval, expenditure not within the approved budget where the cost is to 
be met from external funding, a contingency or reserve set up for the purpose. This 
report therefore incorporates a recommendation to ensure that the Project is treated as 
an in-year addition to the capital programme.

Page 22



15

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022           
£

Capital Receipts (473,940) 0 473,940 0
S106 Capital Contributions (577,200) (285,270) 0 (862,470)
Capital Grants unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)
Total Capital Resources (1,189,640) (285,270) 473,940 (1,000,970)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2021/22

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 0 0 0 0
Localised Council Tax Support (83,500) 0 0 (83,500)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2021/22

Page 23



5.1. The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions
General 

Fund             
£

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2021/22                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (2,680) (2,680) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 (60,650) (210,650)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (189,120) 0 0 (189,120)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0 0 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (92,000) 0 0 (92,000)
To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 
such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
Income received - Planning number is 20141214. We await a copy of the S106 
agreement to the Development of the Meopham Police Station.

St Andrews Gardens (285,270) 0 (155,230) (440,500)

£285,270 & £155,230 expected - Contributions towards Strategic Access 
Management & Monitoring Scheme &  towards the improvement of Lanscaping at 
St Andrew's Gardens.

Total S106 Contributions (862,480) 0 (298,560) (1,161,040)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2021/22

P
age 24



6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

6.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 23 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021-22, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

6.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 September 2021 can be found at Appendix Three 
of this report.

6.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.23%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

6.4 In the first half of 2021/22, despite the pandemic and the difficult economic situtation, 
Property Funds produced an income return of 4.37% overall and Money Market Funds 
produced an average dividend return of 3.25%. Return on internally managed 
investments to 30 September 2021 was 0.21% against a benchmark return of -0.05%.

6.5 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

6.6 At its September meeting, the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 
unanimously to keep Bank Rate unchanged at 0.10%.  The Bank has now indicated 
there had been a marked increase in concern that more recent increases in prices, 
particularly the increases in gas and electricity prices in October and due again next 
April, are likely to lead to faster and higher inflation expectations and underlying wage 
growth, which would in turn increase the risk that price pressures would prove more 
persistent next year than previously expected.  The primary concern is that underlying 
price pressures in the economy are likely to get embedded over the next year and 
elevate future inflation to stay significantly above its 2% target and for longer.
The background papers to this report are held within the Finance Section

Page 25



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and 
assess full year projections to 31 March 2022. It also illustrates how the projected 
position affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the 
Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 26

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


19

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



MTFP V5 - 14.10.2021 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 12,266,490 12,225,760 11,961,850 12,070,870 12,312,320 12,558,570 12,809,760 13,066,000 13,327,310 13,593,860 13,937,980 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (600,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 11,916,490 11,625,760 11,611,850 11,720,870 11,962,320 12,208,570 12,459,760 12,716,000 12,977,310 13,243,860 13,587,980 

Temporary Staff 408,500 408,500 416,160 423,960 431,910 440,030 448,310 456,770 465,390 474,190 486,040 

Wages 160,130 160,130 104,410 246,490 108,620 110,790 113,000 255,250 117,550 119,910 122,910 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,184,500 3,190,480 3,146,570 3,171,890 3,235,330 3,300,110 3,366,110 3,433,370 3,502,060 3,572,070 3,662,520 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,058,460 1,020,000 1,002,790 1,003,760 1,004,750 1,005,760 1,006,790 1,007,840 1,008,910 1,010,000 1,011,120 

Running Expenses 15,027,670 15,694,130 10,740,910 10,861,280 10,867,330 10,958,490 11,084,010 11,281,660 11,460,010 11,595,070 11,681,580 

Capital Financing 870,550 766,440 1,727,480 (191,540) 1,787,120 1,933,200 2,373,230 2,340,800 2,309,050 2,309,050 2,309,050 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (52,120) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,295,930) (2,869,460) (2,988,460) (3,040,040) (3,111,300) (3,137,350) (3,191,950) (3,253,000) (3,198,720) (3,226,930) (3,238,950)

Other Government Grants (6,666,430) (7,166,640) (2,048,230) (2,061,440) (2,074,800) (2,088,280) (2,101,900) (2,115,650) (2,129,540) (2,143,580) (2,157,730)

Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000) (1,042,000)

Fees & Charges (6,180,870) (6,355,130) (6,824,010) (6,872,720) (6,973,760) (6,937,010) (6,782,520) (6,815,640) (6,793,920) (6,861,910) (6,889,300)

Rental Income (4,529,350) (4,529,350) (4,623,140) (4,421,170) (4,572,750) (4,475,000) (4,723,330) (4,769,600) (4,815,000) (4,815,000) (4,858,340)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,724,980 2,965,920 807,000 692,000 757,000 642,000 600,000 757,000 212,000 132,000 132,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (7,148,150) (8,615,530) (14,100) (63,440) 165,160 347,880 511,100 60,450 667,580 746,130 746,130 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 

Parish Precepts 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 6,420,640 6,185,340 13,025,260 11,455,850 13,579,540 14,298,160 15,140,000 15,314,980 15,712,410 16,054,590 16,464,740 

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) (3,272,500) (3,305,230) (3,338,280) (3,371,660) (3,405,370) (3,439,430) (3,473,810) (3,508,550) (3,543,640)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) (7,525,110) (7,721,820) (7,923,410) (8,130,320) (8,342,620) (8,560,390) (8,784,060) (9,013,350) (9,248,720)

Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 184,870 184,870 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

98,270 98,270 (1,903,070) (104,220) (1,808,400) (2,286,730) (2,325,280) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

--   (235,300) --   --   --   --   557,280 2,455,710 2,595,090 2,673,240 2,812,930 

--   --   --   --   --   --   557,280 1,898,430 139,380 78,150 139,690 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2030-31

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Original 

2021-22

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2024-25

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

P
age 29



MTFP V5 - 14.10.2021 Appendix 2

2021-22   

Original

2021-22   

Projected

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

2030-31      

Original

9,283,080 9,283,080 9,927,700 8,374,630 8,620,410 7,162,010 5,225,280 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 98,270 98,270 (1,903,070) (104,220) (1,808,400) (2,286,730) (2,325,280) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,692,400 9,692,400 8,374,630 8,620,410 7,162,010 5,225,280 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 235,300 - - - - (557,280) (2,455,710) (2,595,090) (2,673,240) (2,812,930)

9,692,400 9,927,700 8,374,630 8,620,410 7,162,010 5,225,280 2,692,720 237,010 (2,358,080) (5,031,320) (7,844,250)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Corporate Priorities Reserve 534,840 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780 422,780

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163,200 403,190 403,190 423,190 523,190 623,190 723,190 823,190 923,190 1,023,190 1,123,190

Planning Policy Reserve 464,490 432,890 437,290 461,690 511,690 561,690 611,690 661,690 711,690 761,690 811,690

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657,410 - - - - - - - - - -

Decriminalisation (General) 228,460 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123,480 135,980 124,480 112,980 101,480 113,980 126,480 138,980 151,480 163,980 176,480

Elections Reserve 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 370,950 181,460 186,460 211,460 181,460 191,460 266,460 196,460 206,460 256,460 306,460

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 473,960 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400 181,400

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223,060 1,044,410 865,760 687,110 508,460 461,000 458,000 306,840 528,190 749,540 970,890

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075,100 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760

Growth Fund Reserve 374,910 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000

Service Review Reserve 83,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000

Playgrounds Reserve 135,530 44,410 58,160 46,910 20,660 19,410 20,160 33,910 62,660 131,410 200,160

Woodville Repairs Reserve 239,820 297,070 354,320 411,570 468,820 526,070 583,320 640,570 697,820 755,070 812,320

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 1,146,620 1,132,340 1,146,410 1,116,120 1,138,850 1,124,190 1,161,440 1,168,380 1,175,190 1,175,190 1,175,190

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve 484,860 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620

Enterprise Zone Reserve 151,340 172,850 319,430 466,030 612,610 759,110 905,460 1,051,630 1,197,550 1,348,830 1,500,110

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 15,412,500 18,443,240 16,976,070 17,158,410 15,865,170 14,276,320 12,254,860 9,859,600 7,932,090 6,004,980 3,938,180

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,001

KEY ITEMS INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increases of 2% projected annually from 2021/22 onwards.  Council Tax Base incorporates forecast growth of 0.60% annually from 2021/22 onwards.

No general pay award budgeted for 2021-22 (except rise of at least £250 for those earning under £24k) - in line with Spending Review announcements.

Negative RSG removed for 2021-22 as per Spending Review. NHB Scheme payments updated for 2021-22 and flatlined thereafter pending the outcome of long term funding reforms.

General Fund minimum working balance set at £2m, with General Reserve balance set at £3.25m.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council will incur these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

P
age 30



Class Type Deal Ref
Start / Purchase 

Date
Maturity Date Rate

Deposit Fixed 145 11/11/20 10/11/21 0.2500%

Deposit Fixed 148 23/04/21 22/10/21 0.2450%

Deposit Fixed 154 20/09/21 19/09/22 0.1000%

0.2081%

Deposit Call - 180 days notice 143 09/10/20 0.5800%

Deposit Call - 180 days notice 144 30/10/20 0.5800%

0.5800%

Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 0.4000%

0.4000%

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L1 14/11/19 0.0100%

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 0.0100%

Deposit MMF Deutsche RR MMF 11/06/18 0.0000%

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 0.0099%

Deposit MMF Deutsche MMF 01/04/16 0.0000%

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 0.0099%

0.0080%

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 0.0000%

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 0.0000%

0.0000%

0.1222%

Tot

al
-56,538,470.18

Tot

al
Grand Total

Deposit Total -56,538,470.18

VNAV Fund Total -20,174,447.18

JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity -5,090,206.19

Jupiter Asset Management Maturity -2,633,290.87

-5,229,379.77

Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity -1,897,359.17

15 Hermes Maturity -2,790,075.76

CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity -1,993,272.96

Hermes Maturity -540,862.48

Lothbury Maturity

Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity -827,296.70

MMF Total -17,264,023.00

-7,172,703.30

Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity -3,341,000.00

11
Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class L-1 Maturity -5,281,000.00

Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class L-1 Maturity -619,000.00

Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity -23,023.00

Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity

-7,000,000.00

8 Santander UK plc Maturity -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total -1,000,000.00

-3,000,000.00

Santander UK plc Maturity -4,000,000.00

-3,000,000.00

Fixed Total -11,100,000.00

-5,000,000.00

Goldman Sachs International Link Group Maturity -3,100,000.00

0 7 Wokingham Borough Council Tradition Maturity

Moray Council Tradition Maturity

8 Santander UK plc Maturity

Call - 180 days notice Total

Principal Outstanding
As At: 30/09/2021

Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, Heritage Quarter - Capital Contribution, Heritage 

Quarter - Rent Reserve)

Counterparty Broker Name Profile Principal O/S (£)

 Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 15/10/21 10:19 Page 1 of 1

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 8 November / 10 November 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – 
Quarter Two 2021/22

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 September 2021 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity, which affects either budgetary provision or results in 
a permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved 
by Management Team.

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter 2, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year.  Variances identified within the report result in a larger 
contribution from the HRA General Reserve to balance the budget than originally forecast.  
Favourable variances resulting from staff vacancies and reduced interest costs resulting 
from the slowed capital programme in 2020/21 have been offset by a larger draw on the 
HRA General Reserve to finance capital budgets rolled forward from 2020/21 and a 
potential reduction in rental income resulting from the slowed delivery of the New Build 
programme due to Covid-19.

2.2. The potential impact of Covid-19 was taken into account when setting the 2021/22 HRA 
budget.  Therefore, there are no additional variances to expenditure or income to report.  
However, officers will continue to closely monitor the impact and highlight variances in the 
future at the earliest opportunity.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £882k, with the level of reserves being £2.8m 
at start of year and projected to be £1.9m at year-end.

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform and any impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
beyond those considered at the time of budget setting.

Housing Capital

2.5. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £24m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter 2 of £12.5m. Capital budgets totalling 
£2.9m have been carried forward to 2021/22, relating to the maintenance of the Council’s 
housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities Grants.  
The Council was awarded a grant via the Better Care Fund for Disabled Facility Grants 
that was £187k higher than assumed at the time of setting the budget in February 2021.

Page 34



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 2021.  As at 
30 September 2021, the forecast reflects a net adverse variance to original budget of 
£120k.

Description Original Budget 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast   
2021/22 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,996,680 5,862,020 (134,660)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,812,020 7,812,020 0
Depreciation 6,948,300 6,948,300 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 589,080 589,080 0
Capital Finance 7,794,080 7,896,580 102,500
Sub Total Expenditure 29,140,160 29,108,000 (32,160)
Rents of Dwellings (26,273,300) (26,089,300) 184,000
Other Rental Income (14,700) (14,700) 0
Service Charges (1,782,900) (1,782,900) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (172,000) (32,000)
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,680) (521,680) 0
Other Income (110,620) (110,620) 0
Sub Total Income (28,843,200) (28,691,200) 152,000
Contributions to/(from) reserves (296,960) (416,800) 119,840
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2021/22

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT – £135k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £135k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2021/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first six months to 30 September 2021, actual staffing spend was £135k lower 
than budgeted.

3.2.2. Capita Housing System: nil variance – due to delays implementing a new Housing 
System, the existing housing system, Capita, is being utilized and supported beyond the 
original termination date.  This has resulted in adverse variance of £50k from the 
budgeted provision.  However, Officers are seeking to recover these costs from the new 
Housing System provider.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance – nil variance – A nil variance is reported at this stage of the 
financial year, however, we are working closely with the Housing Team to monitor this 
position going forward as national delays in the supply chain and the associated increase 
in material costs are affecting both Contractors and the in-house team which are 
challenging to manage within budget and may affect programme delivery.

The current impacts within Repairs and Maintenance have included:

 External refurbishment:- Significant increases in the cost of materials, 21-22 year 
programme has been scaled back to accommodate price increase.

Page 35



4

 Compliance programmes: Reporting difficulties with sourcing materials/parts but no 
impact in service delivery.

Details of impacts on the Capital programme have been included in section 4. 

3.4. DEPRECIATION - NIL VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – nil variance – there is no variance to report at this stage.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING - £103K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Interest Cost Savings – £116k – favourable variance – due to the Covid-19 related 
delays in the new build programme, there was a lower external borrowing requirement in 
2020/21.  This has reduced the anticipated cost of borrowing in the current financial year, 
resulting in a favourable variance of £116k against the original budget.

3.5.2. Contribution to Capital Programme - £219k – adverse variance – due to the impact of 
Covid-19 and subsequent delays to the capital programme during 2020/21 there was a 
reduction in the level of spend during the last financial year and, as a consequence, the 
draw from the HRA General Reserve to finance the capital spend was not required.  
However, this year there is now an increase in the required draw from HRA General 
Reserve to finance an element of the capital carried forward budgets.  This has resulted in 
an adverse variance of £219k. 

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £184k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings – £184k adverse variance– Due to the Covid-19 impact on the 
delivery of the New Build programmes from 20/21 into 21/22, there have been delays in 
the completion of units resulting in an expected loss of rental income generated in the 
current year compared to budget projections.

3.7. NON DWELLING INCOME - £32k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Commercial Rent - £32k favourable variance – a favourable variance is forecast due to 
the increased rental income received for the hire of space for telecommunications masts 
on HRA land and buildings not known at the time of setting the budget.

3.8. OTHER INCOME – NIL VARIANCE

3.8.1. Other Income – nil variance – as with rental income from dwellings there remains a 
possible impact of COVID-19 on commercial income.  Again this was factored in when 
setting the budget for 2021/22 and therefore at this stage of the year no further variance is 
reported.

3.9. WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES
3.9.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2021/22 (416,800)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 Sept 2021) including minimum HRA 
Working Balance 2,583,200

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 416,800

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 Sept 2021) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

Page 36



5

3.9.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021   
(£)

Contributions 
(Income)      

(£)

Use of 
Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
(£)

Balance 
31/03/2022   

(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (2,763,470) 0 882,260 (1,881,210)

Total (2,763,470) 0 882,260 (1,881,210)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2021/22 is £23,978,630, of which £21,889,230 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £2,089,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,869,940 and £1,069,800, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2020/21.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2021/22, with £7,666,620 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  A further £250,000 has been set aside to deal with the refurbishment of 
major void properties.  An additional £1,390,010 capital budgets have been agreed to 
provide the replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play 
Equipment.  The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with 
£12,582,600 allocated for this purpose.

4.3. As at the end Quarter 2, £12.5m has been spent or committed against the capital 
schemes detailed below.  Officers will continue to monitor the impact of Covid-19 on the 
delivery of the capital programme.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2021-22 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 3,910,190 2,240,880 (1,669,310)
B Improvement Programmes 1,771,480 1,119,250 (652,230)
C Health & Safety Works 2,083,950 1,929,470 (154,480)
D Major Void Works 250,000 105,030 (144,970)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,582,600 5,242,790 (7,339,810)
F Housing Computer Systems 345,080 348,640 3,560
G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 0 (127,500)
H Bin Housing 49,470 15,710 (33,760)
I CCTV 56,960 33,320 (23,640)
J Fire Doors 712,000 647,050 (64,950)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 21,889,230 11,682,140 (10,207,090)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 2,089,400 827,250 (1,262,150)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 23,978,630 12,509,390 (11,469,240)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2021/22

Page 37



6

4.4. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter 2 2021/22:

4.4.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A) 

 Kitchen renewals: 84 completed
 Bathroom renewals: 42 completed
 Windows and door renewals: 30 properties completed
 Roofing: 3 Blocks have had a roof renewal
 Electrical tests: 115 properties completed
 Electrical tests: 15 Blocks completed

4.4.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 Central heating systems/boilers installations:  222 completed
 Wet room installations: 34 completed
 Domestic stair lifts installations: 16 completed

4.4.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Fire detection installations in general let properties: 143 completed
 Fire detection installations in sheltered properties: 166 completed
 Upgrades to door entry systems: 9 blocks
 Lift refurbishment: Refurbishment works to one lift completed. Modernisation works 

to the second lift in progress. 
 Fire rated front door replacements to flats: This programme has resulted from one 

of the recommendations from the Hackitt report.  The main focus for Q1 and Q2 
has been

o planning and procuring the contractor (Mulalley)
o selecting door sets (door and frames) to meet required fire rated 

specifications
o installation of 337 doors to our high-rise clocks will commence in November 

(a selection of door colours will be available for residents)
o works will be completed in March 2022, before commencing replacement of 

doors in Sheltered Schemes from April 2022.
 Carl Ekman water mains and soil stack renewal:  Works in progress, estimated to 

complete March 2022, the following works have commenced:
o Removal of cast iron soil and vent pipes and rainwater pipe installation of 

new rainwater drainage
o Removal of sanitary ware in flats affected by removal of soil stack
o Installation of new bathrooms by DSO to commence November 2021

 Carl Ekman: Fire Sprinkler upgrade following water mains upgrade. Preparatory 
works to all flats in progress. Project estimated to complete by March 2022

4.4.4. As noted in section 3.3.2 the Capital programme is also being affected by the issues 
reported.  These include:

 Heating installations: Contractors have been reporting an increase in the cost of 
materials and difficulty in sourcing materials.  There has been no impact on service 
delivery, however some contractors are seeking significant increases in the contract 
price.  These have yet to be agreed or confirmed.

 Bathroom programme have been scaled back to just void works due to difficulties with 
procuring materials.

 Windows and door renewals: The contractor is advising an increase of 10%-20% in 
the price of materials which they are absorbing at the present time.  However, 

Page 38



7

significant delays in sourcing materials with wait times up to approximately 16 weeks 
which may affect programme delivery.

 Roofing: There are similar significant delays in sourcing materials for this programme, 
flat roofs material delivery times have increase from 3 weeks up to 8 weeks or more, 
pitched roof materials taking 28-30 weeks from 6-8 weeks, again this may affect 
programme delivery

4.5. New Build (Ref E)

4.5.1. In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of the 
Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition 
of additional social housing.

4.5.2. From 1 April 2021, MHCLG has amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of additional 
housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from the previous limit of 
30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only required to fund the remaining 60% 
of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the requirement to spend RTB receipts from three to 
four years after they are generated.

4.5.3. The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been delivered 
since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the number of additional 
properties, which are at various stages of delivery within the current programme.  To date, 
the total number of new Council homes completed, under construction or with planning 
permission is 140. The Housing Development Team continue to work on a pipeline of 
potential development sites to increase the supply of social housing.

HRA Property Development Stage Number of 
Properties

Delivered and Completed 49
Under Construction 78
Planning Permission Granted 13
Feasibility/Concept Design 334
Total Number of HRA Properties 474

Table 5: New Build Delivery

4.5.4. The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 2:

 Whitehill (Admiral Beatty House) and Nansen Road – now complete with the final phase 
of 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments handed over to Housing Management on the 19th July.  
The properties have been allocated and tenants have moved in.  

 St Patrick’s Gardens (Bishops Court) – works are progressing well on site with an 
expected completion towards the end of the calendar year.  Once complete, the scheme 
will provide 22 x 1 and 2 bed general needs apartments and one 2 bed wheelchair 
dwelling each with their own private balcony/winter garden.  New amenity space and 
improved play area for children up to the age of 12 will serve residents of the new 
properties as well as existing nearby residents.  A Local Lettings Plan, similar to Admiral 
Beatty House, will be adopted which will prioritise existing tenants of St Patricks Gardens 
who have a housing need (downsizing or overcrowding) and have no history of rent 
arrears or antisocial behaviour instances.  In turn, this will create turnover in our stock and 
availability for other applicants on the Housing Register.

 Valley Drive (340/Mariner Court) – Works are continuing on site with an expected 
completion date of summer 2022.  The scheme will deliver 32 x1 bed apartments for over 

Page 39



8

55’s including 4 x wheelchair compliant homes to Block A and 15 x 1 and 2 bed 
apartments for general needs and 1 x 3 bed wheelchair dwelling to Block B.

 Constable Road – Works commenced on site in June that will deliver a terrace of 6 x 1 
bed bungalows and 1 x 1 bed wheelchair compliant bungalow and creation of a new play 
area to the open greenspace.  The bungalow design with room in the roof, seeks to 
encourage existing tenants who are under occupying to re-size to a home that better 
meets their needs, which in turn will free up larger family sized homes for waiting 
applicants.

 Armoury Drive – The former Milton Barracks site in Armoury Drive will see the 
construction of 2 x 1 bed detached bungalows and 4 x 2 bed apartments.  The site’s 
historical past will be preserved with retention of the existing 19th century brick enclosure 
wall with works due to commence on site early 2022 and complete in 2023.

 St Columba’s Close – Design works are ongoing, using Passivhaus principles. A planning 
application is due to be submitted first half of 2022.  All ward members have now been 
briefed on the design principles and early stage plans and they are all supportive of the 
proposed development.  The scheme will deliver around 50 new carbon neutral homes 
comprising a mix of larger family houses and flats and general improvements to the public 
realm.

 147 Wrotham Road - In 2020/21 the Council purchased this property, which once 
renovated will provided interim housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough.  
The property will provide 10 single rooms with en-suite facilities (including one wet room), 
a further 4 multifunctional rooms which can be used as emergency overnight 
accommodation, shared kitchen, and dining facilities as well as facilities for staff.  
Additional works have been required to those originally envisaged but completion is 
expected by the end of October.  The major works in this property have been completed 
and officers are awaiting a final fire risk assessment before welcoming the first occupants 
of this new supported housing facility in the coming weeks.

4.5.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2021, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.5.6. Table 6 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 40



9

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-22
2017-18 1,811,560 4,227,000 6,038,560 29,057,180 31-Mar-23
2018-19 1,797,170 4,193,400 5,990,570 35,047,730 31-Mar-24
2019-20 2,869,320 6,695,080 9,564,400 44,612,130 31-Mar-25
2020-21 1,475,440 3,442,690 4,918,130 49,530,260 31-Mar-26
2021-22 619,420 929,130 1,548,550 51,078,810 31-Mar-27

15,478,490 35,600,320 51,078,810

Table 6: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref F) 
4.7.1. Delivery and implementation of the Housing Computer System has been delayed as a 

result of the system not passing the Council’s user acceptance testing on a number of 
occasions.  The Council has escalated the matter with the supplier’s senior management, 
who have an alternative solution which they believe will better meet the Council’s needs.

4.7.2. As a result, the Council is participating in a number of discovery workshops with the 
supplier to confirm this is the case, but this approach will impact on implementation 
timescales.

4.7.3. The Council is seeking reparation from the supplier for the total cost that has been 
incurred to date on the grounds of non-delivery of the required system.  A formal response 
from the supplier is awaited and due by the end of October 2021.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20-year replacement plan has been agreed and included within the Housing Asset 
Business Plan.  However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there had been a delay with the 
programme progressing which has allowed the team to review its approach to resident 
engagement to ensure we are fully involving them in the process.  Site visits have been 
undertaken and we are expecting the work to commence in Quarter 3.

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref K) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council in 2021/22, via the Better Care Fund, was 
£1.020m, which was higher than the £833k that was, forecasted when the budget was set 
in February 2021.  The total funding available for use in 2021/22 is now £2.089m, which is 
inclusive of the £1.070m that was carry forward from 2020/21.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance within the wider remit of the Better Care Fund.

4.9.3. Challenges in relation to Covid-19 were overcome and considerable progress continued 
to be made in 2021/22, including dealing with the backlog of referrals and the completion 
of adaptations that were approved prior to lockdown.  As at Quarter 2, 47% of the annual 
budget has been committed/spent.

4.9.4. 66 applications have been received to date for 2021/22 and 152 grants; including those 
carried over from previous periods which are either in progress or completed

 55 grant cases were approved 
 44 households had works completed 

Page 41



10

 12 applications were aborted or cancelled due to changes in the client’s 
circumstances 

 59 grant cases are currently in progress but have not yet reached the full approval 
stage

4.9.5. The table below gives a comparison of the current level of DFG’s to previous years.

19-20 19-20 19-20 19-20 20-21 20-21 20-21 20-21 21-22 21-22
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Approved 22 14 25 23 4 6 26 22 30 55
Complete 19 16 11 21 12 8 10 21 15 44
Cancelled 5 7 11 3 0 2 8 7 1 12
In Progress 44 48 42 42 47 56 51 86 56 59
Total 90 85 89 89 63 72 95 136 102 170
Table 7: DFG Historic Claim Information

4.10. Capital Resources
4.10.1. Table 8 below, shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The use 

of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances forward, as 
indicated in this report.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021(£)

Forecast 
Income 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast Use 
of Funding 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
Final Balance 
31/03/2022 (£)

Capital Receipts - HRA (1,010,350) (259,490) 779,010 (490,830)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (135,380) 0 0 (135,380)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (85,380) (6,948,300) 7,033,680 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) 0 69,700 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,349,860) (3,078,660) 3,608,850 (5,819,670)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (673,360) 673,360 0
Disabled Facility Grants (1,203,630) (1,019,600) 2,089,400 (133,830)
Christianfields Overage 0 0 0 0
Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
General Reserve (revenue) (2,763,470) 0 882,260 (1,881,210)
Total (15,215,270) (11,979,410) 15,136,260 (12,058,420)

Table 8: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2021/22

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plans for capital and revenue are attached to this 
report at Appendices two and three. 

Page 42



11

4.11.4. The current version of the HRA Business Plan reflects the changes to the use of HRA 1-4-
4 Right to Buy receipts which were recently announced by MHCLG and came into effect 
on 1 April 2021 (para 4.5.2).  It also reflects the assumption that the number of properties 
sold under the Right to Buy scheme will continue to but at a reduced level of 24 per 
annum to the previous assumption of 30 properties per annum.  Inflationary increases 
year on year have also been reviewed to reflect the current challenging economic 
conditions and supply chain issues.

4.11.5. Officers will continue to work on the Business Plan in the coming weeks and months to 
review and assess the impact of other base assumptions within the model.

Page 43



12

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 44

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


13

Climate Change No direct implications

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q2

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programmes

Kitchen 988 988 925 950 971 992 1,014 1,036 1,059 1,082 1,106

Bathroom 225 225 339 348 355 363 371 379 388 396 405

Doors & Windows 950 950 886 910 930 950 971 992 1,014 1,036 1,059

Roofing Replacements 1,039 1,039 869 895 910 937 950 971 993 1,015 1,037

Electrical Testing 709 709 663 681 696 711 727 743 759 776 793

Improvement Programmes

Modernisation & Reconfigurations 11 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Insulation Works 80 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Heating Installations 1,050 1,050 1,094 1,124 1,148 1,174 1,199 1,226 1,253 1,280 1,309

Capital Services & Projects 80 80 52 54 55 56 57 58 60 61 62

Aids and Adaptations 552 552 543 558 570 582 595 608 622 635 649

Health & Safety Works

Fire Precaution Works 1,023 1,023 811 833 851 870 889 909 929 949 970

Door Entry/Warden 125 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Asbestos Management 60 60 52 54 55 56 57 58 60 61 62

Major Lift Refurbishments 276 276 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tanks/Water Mains 401 401 21 21 22 22 23 23 24 24 25

LED Emergency Lighting 101 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Major Voids 250 250 261 268 273 279 286 292 298 305 312

Additional Stock Condition Schemes

Energy Efficiency Saving Schemes 0 0 303 311 318 325 332 339 347 354 362

Planned Maintenance 0 0 212 2,041 1,037 3,819 4,623 4,725 4,828 4,935 5,043

Communal 0 0 823 845 864 883 902 922 943 963 985

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,917 7,917 7,853 9,890 9,054 12,019 12,997 13,282 13,575 13,873 14,178

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 345 345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 128 128 24 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 49 49 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 57 57 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 811 811 175 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 1,390 1,390 214 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 800 800 800 800 800 800 800 800 800 800

Whitehill Road 0 717 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 4,429 2,494 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 2,628 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 1,871 227 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 892 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's Depot/Garages 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place/Chichester Rise 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Project Management 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

147 Wortham Road 0 239 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Columba's 0 0 5,942 10,109 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worcester Drive 0 0 1,050 350 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gravesham Court 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,583 985 0 0 0 0 3,185 5,998 6,461 6,948 7,461

New Build Expenditure Total 12,583 12,583 10,764 11,259 800 800 3,985 6,798 7,261 7,748 8,261

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 21,889 21,889 18,830 21,173 9,854 12,819 16,982 20,081 20,836 21,621 22,440

Financing

MRR (7,812) (7,103) (7,296) (7,551) (7,778) (8,011) (8,251) (8,499) (8,754) (9,016) (9,287)

RTB - Allowable Debt (715) (673) (530) (547) (480) (480) (785) (618) (637) (657) (677)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (779) (779) (214) (24) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (715) (715) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8,133) (8,081)

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,704) (3,609) (2,283) (2,317) (320) (320) (1,594) (2,719) (2,904) (3,099) (3,305)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (9,164) (9,009) (8,507) (10,734) (1,276) (4,008) (6,351) (8,244) (8,540) (716) (1,090)

Total Financing (21,889) (21,889) (18,830) (21,173) (9,854) (12,819) (16,982) (20,081) (20,836) (21,621) (22,440)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Original 

Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,997 5,862 6,770 6,952 7,105 7,262 7,421 7,585 7,751 7,922 8,096

Repairs and Maintenance 7,812 7,812 7,019 6,735 6,910 7,085 7,335 7,497 7,662 7,830 8,003

Depreciation 6,948 6,948 7,296 7,551 7,778 8,011 8,251 8,499 8,754 9,016 9,287

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 589 589 614 630 644 658 673 688 703 718 734

Capital Finance 7,544 7,181 9,301 10,069 10,739 10,835 10,764 10,749 10,710 2,557 2,589

RCCO 250 715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,133 8,081

Revenue Savings Required

Total Expenditure 29,140 29,108 30,999 31,938 33,176 33,852 34,445 35,017 35,580 36,177 36,790

Income

Rents of Dwellings (26,273) (26,089) (28,252) (29,203) (30,515) (31,037) (31,568) (32,108) (32,657) (33,214) (33,782)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15)

Service Charges (1,783) (1,783) (1,854) (1,901) (1,939) (1,977) (2,017) (2,057) (2,098) (2,140) (2,183)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111)

Total Income (28,843) (28,690) (30,925) (31,923) (33,272) (33,833) (34,404) (34,984) (35,574) (36,174) (36,784)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (297) (418) (74) (15) 96 (18) (41) (33) (6) (3) (6)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (297) (418) (74) (15) 96 (18) (41) (33) (6) (3) (6)

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,703 2,582 2,926 2,985 3,096 2,982 2,959 2,967 2,994 2,997 2,994

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 297 418 74 15 (96) 18 41 33 6 3 6

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 2,763 2,763 1,880 1,806 1,791 1,887 1,869 1,829 1,796 1,789 1,786

Use to support revenue position (297) (418) (74) (15) 0 (18) (41) (33) (6) (3) (6)

Use in capital financing (497) (465) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,970 1,880 1,806 1,791 1,887 1,869 1,829 1,796 1,789 1,786 1,779

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 10 November 2021

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2021/22

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide a mid-year review update report to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee 
on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to September 2021.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report and to recommend 

to Full Council that the amendment to the non-specified investment counterparty 
criteria as set out in Para 10.5 is agreed.

2. The Finance and Audit Committee delegate responsibility to the Chair of the 
Committee to amend the authorised limit and operational boundary as needed in 
response to the final accounting treatment agreed in respect of the St George’s 
Centre transaction and make any necessary recommendations to Full Council.  

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 Capital Strategy In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy, (CIPFA) issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes. From 2020/21, all local authorities have been required to prepare a 
Capital Strategy which is to provide the following: - 

 a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; 
 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

1.2 Treasury management The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly 
means cash raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the 
treasury management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return.

1.3 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the 
Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer 

Page 51 Agenda Item 8



term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.

1.4 Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management (revised 2017).  The primary requirements of the Code 
are as follows:

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives.

 Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year.

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions.

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is the Finance and Audit Committee.

2.2 This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first half of the 2021/22 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 

prudential indicators;
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22.

Page 52



3. ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

3.1 The following economic performance update has been provided by Link Asset 
Services – Treasury Solutions as at 6 October 2021.

3.2 At its September meeting, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 
unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged at 0.10% and made no changes to its 
programme of quantitative easing purchases due to finish by the end of this year at 
a total of £895bn.

3.3 The MPC has now indicated there had been a marked increase in concern that 
more recent increases in prices, particularly the increases in gas and electricity 
prices in October and due again next April, are likely to lead to faster and higher 
inflation expectations and underlying wage growth, which would in turn increase 
the risk that price pressures would prove more persistent next year than previously 
expected.  The primary concern is that underlying price pressures in the economy 
are likely to get embedded over the next year and elevate future inflation to stay 
significantly above its 2% target and for longer.

3.4 Financial markets are now pricing in a first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 
0.25% in February 2022, but this looks ambitious as the MPC has stated that it 
wants to see what happens to the economy, and particularly to employment once 
furlough ends at the end of September.  At the MPC’s meeting in February it will 
only have available the employment figures for November: to get a clearer picture 
of employment trends, it would need to wait until the May meeting when it would 
have data up until February.  At its May meeting, it will also have a clearer 
understanding of the likely peak of inflation.

3.5 The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank 
Rate versus selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows:-

 Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most 
circumstances”.

 Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings.
 Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.

Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.

3.6 COVID-19 vaccines have been the game changer which have enormously boosted 
confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal during the summer after 
a third wave of the virus threatened to overwhelm hospitals in the spring.  With the 
household saving rate having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in 
March 2020, there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for 
services in hard hit sectors like restaurants, travel, and hotels.  The big question is 
whether mutations of the virus could develop which render current vaccines 
ineffective, as opposed to how quickly vaccines can be modified to deal with them 
and enhanced testing programmes be implemented to contain their spread.

3.7 Supply shortages - The pandemic and extreme weather events have been highly 
disruptive of extended worldwide supply chains.  At the current time there are 
major queues of ships unable to unload their goods at ports in New York, California 
and China.  Such issues have led to mis-distribution of shipping containers around 
the world and have contributed to a huge increase in the cost of shipping. 
Combined with a shortage of semi-conductors, these issues have had a disruptive 
impact on production in many countries.  Many western countries are also hitting 

Page 53



up against a difficulty in filling job vacancies. It is expected that these issues will be 
gradually sorted out, but they are currently contributing to a spike upwards in 
inflation and shortages of materials and goods on shelves.

4. INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

4.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast.

4.2 The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to 
economies around the world.  After the Bank of England took emergency action in 
March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its 
subsequent meetings.  As shown in the forecast table above, one increase in 
Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% has now been included in quarter 2 of 2022/23, 
a second increase to 0.50% in quarter 2 of 23/24 and a third one to 0.75% in 
quarter 4 of 23/24.

4.3 The balance of risks to the UK

4.4 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the upside though 
there are still residual risks from Covid variants - both domestically and their potential 
effects worldwide, and from various shortages.

4.5 Significant risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include

 COVID-19 vaccinations do not work to combat new mutations and/or new 
vaccines take longer than anticipated to be developed for successful 
implementation

 The pandemic causes major long-term scarring of the economy

 The Government implements an austerity programme that supresses GDP 
Growth

 The MPC tightens monetary policy too early – by raising Bank Rate or 
unwinding QE

 The MPC tightens monetary policy tool ate to ward off building inflationary 
pressures

 Major stock markets eg in the US, become increasingly judged as being 
over valued and susceptible to major price corrections

Page 54



 Geo-political risks are widespread

5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY UPDATE

5.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was 
approved by Full Council on 23 February 2021.

5.2 There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved.

6. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS)

6.1 This part of the report is structured to update:

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans

 How these plans are being financed

 The impact of changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

6.2 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure - The table below shows the revised 
estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the capital programme was 
agreed by Council as part of the budget.

Capital Expenditure 2021/22
Original 
Estimate

£m

2021/22
Current 
Position

£m

2021/22
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Non HRA 53.194 8.810 24.618

HRA 20.019 11.682 20.904

Commercial 
activities/non-financial 
investments

0.000 0.000 0.000

Total 73.213 20.492 45.522

6.3 The revised estimate for Non HRA and HRA capital schemes reflects the carried 
forward items from 2020/21.

6.4 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme - The following table 
draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the 
capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital 
expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increased the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt 
(Minimum Revenue Provision).  This direct borrowing need may also be 
supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury requirements.

Page 55



Capital Expenditure 2021/22
Original 
Estimate

£m

2021/22
Current 
Position

£m

2021/22
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Total 73.213 20.492 45.522

Financed by:

Capital Receipts 3.450 1.973 4.894

Grants/Contributions 6.290 0.871 2.440

Reserves 1.570 0.592 2.816

Revenue 0.497 0.000 0.715

Major Repairs Reserve 7.812 6.042 6.883

Revenue Grants not 
yet applied

0.155 0.143 0.488

Total Financing 19.774 9.621 18.236
Borrowing Need 53.439 10.871 27.286

6.5 The borrowing need for 2021/22 currently stands at £27.286m, which is based on 
the forecast capital programme spend for the current year.  Of the total borrowing 
need, £1m internal borrowing will be utilised and £26.286m external borrowing will 
be sought.

6.6 Changes to the Prudential Indicator for the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary - The table below shows the 
CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for a capital 
purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position, which is termed the 
Operational Boundary.

2021/22
Original 
Estimate

£m

2021/22
Current 
Position

£m

2021/22
Revised 
Estimate

£m
Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – Non HRA 169.918 128.807 140.302

CFR – HRA 83.093 75.552 80.470

CFR – Commercial 
activities/non-financing activities 6.164 6.164 6.164

Total CFR 259.175 210.522 226.936

Net Movement in CFR 
(between years) 47.634 5.090 21.504
Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt
Borrowing 154.260 154.260 154.260

Other Long Term Liabilities 97.920 97.920 97.920

Page 56



Commercial activities 30.000 30.000 30.000

Total Debt (year end position) 282.180 282.180 282.180

6.7 The operational boundary is the maximum amount of borrowing which the council 
is permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must not be breached other 
than for temporary cash flow demand purposes. This level has not been breached 
during the first six months of 2021/22.

6.8 The current debt position above and the revised estimate of the operational 
boundary is the same as that which was set when the TMSS for 2020/21 was 
agreed by Full Council on 23 February 2021, which includes an allowance for the 
St George’s Finance Lease.  The final accounts process for 2019/20 has 
identified an alternative treatment for this transaction and therefore the above 
figures may be subject to change when the final treatment is agreed between the 
Council and Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditors.  If the operational 
boundary needs to be amended, this will be discussed with the Chair of the 
Finance and Audit Committee in due course and will be required to be 
subsequently approved by Full Council.

6.9 Limits to Borrowing Activity - The first key control over the treasury activity is a 
prudential indicator to ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing 
(borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external 
borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and next two 
financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need 
which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.

Borrowing Activity 2021/22
Original 
Estimate

£m

2021/22
Current 
Position

£m

2021/22
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Debt as at 1 April 88.697 81.477 81.477

Expected change in debt 41.575 12.400 21.367

Other long term liabilities (OLTL) 93.196 93.197 93.197

Expected change in OLTL (0.281) 0.000 (0.281)

Total Gross Debt 223.187 187.074 195.760
CFR (year-end position) 259.175 210.522 226.936

6.10 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.

6.11 Prudential Indicator for the Authorised Limit - A further prudential indicator 
controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit which 
represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set and 
revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is 
the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected 

Page 57



movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

6.12 As per Para 6.10, the authorised limit reported below is at the same level that was 
set when the TMSS for 2021/22 was agreed by Full Council on 23 February 2021, 
which includes an allowance for the St George’s Finance Lease.  If the authorised 
limit needs to be amended, this will be discussed with the Chair of the Finance 
and Audit Committee in due course and will be required to be subsequently 
approved by Full Council.

Authorised limit for 
External Debt

2021/22
Original 

Estimate*
£m

2021/22
Current 
Position

£m

2021/22
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 159.260 159.260 159.260

Borrowing – Commercial 
activities/non-financial 
investments

35.000 35.000 35.000

Other long-term liabilities 102.920 102.920 102.920

Total 297.180 297.180 297.180

7. BORROWING

7.1 The Council’s forecast Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for 2021/22 is 
£226.936m.  The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes. If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the 
market (external borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis 
(internal borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally 
driven by market conditions.  The table at Para 6.29 shows the Council has 
borrowings of £93.877m and has utilised £17.996m of cashflow funds in lieu of 
borrowing.  This is a prudent and cost-effective approach in the current economic 
climate but will require ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt 
yields prevails.

7.2 Due to the overall financial position and the underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes (the CFR), new external borrowing of £12.4m was undertaken, with a 
further £6m arranged but not yet drawn.  The capital programme is being kept 
under regular review because of coronavirus and shortages of material and 
labour.  Our borrowing strategy will, therefore, also be regularly reviewed and 
then revised, if necessary, to achieve optimum value and risk exposure in the 
long-term.

New Loans Principal Interest 
Rate

Start Date Maturity Date

Halton BC £5.7m 0.50% 28/04/21 26/04/24
Oxfordshire CC £2.5m 0.48% 14/06/21 26/04/24
Oxfordshire CC £1.8m 0.48% 12/07/21 26/04/24
Oxfordshire CC £2.4m 0.48% 13/09/21 26/04/24
The following loans have been pre-arranged but not yet received
Vale of White Horse DC £3m 0.30% 28/10/21 24/04/24
South Oxfordshire DC £3m 0.30% 30/11/21 24/04/24

Page 58



7.3 It is anticipated that further borrowing will be undertaken during this financial year.

7.4 PWLB rates have mostly been on a falling trend since May apart from very short 
term rates which have been rising marginally.  The 50-year PWLB target rate for 
new long-term borrowing started in April at 1.90%, rose to 2.00% in May and 
finished in August at 1.70%.  The current PWLB rates are set as margins over 
gilts as follows:-

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

8. DEBT RESCHEDULING

8.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields 
which have impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt 
rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.

9. COMPLIANCE WITH TREASURY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS

9.1 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 
affordable borrowing limits.  During the half year ended 30 September 2021, the 
Council has operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2021/22.  The Director 
Corporate Services reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or 
future years in complying with these indicators.

9.2 All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance 
with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

10. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY

10.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22, which 
includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 
23 February 2021.  In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code, it 
is the Council’s priority to ensure

  security of capital

 liquidity, and 

 yield 

10.2 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with Council’s risk 
appetite.  In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to see out value 
available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, 

Page 59



using the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, including a minimum 
sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay information.

10.3 As shown by the interest rate forecasts in section 4, it is now impossible to earn 
the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as all short term 
money market investment rates have only risen weakly since Bank Rate was cut 
to 0.10% in March 2020until the MPC meeting on 24th September 2021 when 6 
and 12 month rates rose in anticipation of Bank Rate going up in 2022. Given this 
environment and the fact that Bank Rate may only rise marginally, or not at all, 
before mid-2023, investment returns are expected to remain low.

10.4 Creditworthiness – Significant levels of downgrades to Short or Long Term 
credit ratings have not materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, 
where they did change, any alterations were limited to Outlooks.  However, as 
economies are beginning to reopen, there have been some instances of previous 
lowering of Outlooks being reversed.

10.5 Investment Counterparty Criteria – The current investment counterparty criteria 
selection approved in the TMSS needs to be updated to allow the Council to 
place non-specified investments (ie investments over 1 year).  The Finance and 
Audit Committee are requested to recommend this amendment to the TMSS for 
2021/22 to Full Council. 

Counterparty Description Minimum 
Credit Rating

Current 
Max 
Maturity 
Profile

Revised Max 
Maturity 
Profile

Term deposits with unrated 
counterparties: ie Local 
Authorities, Police Authorities, 
Fire Authorities, Housing 
Associations

UK Sovereign 
Rating

2 years 50 years

10.6 Investment Balances – The average levels of funds available for investment 
purposes during the first half of the year to 30 September 2021 was £32.954m.  
These funds are available on a temporary basis, and the level of funds available 
was mainly dependent on the timing of precept payments, receipt of grants and 
progress on the capital programme.  The Council holds £20m cost cash balances 
for investment purposes (ie funds available for more than one year).

10.7 Appendix 2 provides full list of investments held as at 30 September 2021.

10.8 Investment Performance on Internal Investments

Period LIBID Benchmark 
Return

Council 
Performance

Investment 
Interest Earned*

April - Sept -0.05% 0.21% £181,073

* Investment interest earned based on returns received as at end of September.  Q2 income from externally 
managed property funds is not received until October and November.

10.9 As illustrated, the Council outperformed the benchmark by 26 bps on its internally 
managed investments.

Page 60



10.10 Investment Returns – The Council’s budgeted investment return for both 
internally and externally managed investments for 2021/22 is £772k.  No variance 
has been reported as part of the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report.

10.11 PROPERTY FUNDS AND MULTI ASSET FUNDS

10.12 In the 2016/17, £10m was placed in three Externally Managed Property Funds.  In 
2017/18, a further £10m was placed in three Multi Asset Funds.

10.13 The table shows the Net Asset Value (NAV) for each of the Property Funds and 
Multi Asset Funds as at end of September compared to the Purchase Price, along 
with the average gross return on investment to date.

Purchase 
Price Sept NAV % Change 

NAV

Average Gross 
Return on 
Investment

Property Funds

CCLA £1,873,528 £1,993,273 6.39% 4.91%

Lothbury £4,949,648 £5,229,380 5.65% 3.96%

Hermes £2,883,821 £3,330,938 15.50% 4.71%

Multi Asset Funds

JP Morgan £5,000,000 £5,090,206 -1.80% 3.27%

Jupiter £3,000,000 £2,633,291 -12.22% 2.47%

Aberdeen £2,000,000 £1,897,359 -5.13% 4.31%

Total £19,706,997 £20,174,447 2.37% -

Note  – The average gross return is based on the 12 months to 30 September.  

10.14 Property Funds - The % change in capital values above are based on movement 
from the original investment in 2016.  Since 2016 the capital values of the funds 
had generally increased but towards the end of 2019/20 and during 2020/21 the 
capital values fell as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  However, the 
capital values have gradually increased and all three have varying rates of capital 
growth.

10.15 Dividend returns have been slightly affected by the pandemic as companies 
reassess their property requirement post Covid-19.  Officers are closely 
monitoring capital values and remain in regular contact with the Property Fund 
Managers, to ensure they are aware of the latest developments.

10.16 Multi Asset Funds - The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic has been much more 
obvious on the Multi Asset funds, as can clearly be seen in the table above.

10.17 Despite the value of the Multi Asset funds increasing during the course of 
2019/20, as the impact of the pandemic began to be felt across the world, equity 
markets fell in value and the resulting capital values of the funds reduced 
significantly.  Capital values have started to increase but a level of volatility 
remains in the face of current economic uncertainty.  Despite these issues, funds 

Page 61



continue to pay dividends albeit they continue to be at a lower rate than previous 
returns.

10.18 As with the Property Funds, Officers are closely monitoring capital values and 
remain in regular contact with Fund Managers, to ensure they are aware of the 
latest developments

10.19 It must be remembered that investment in Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds 
need to be viewed as a long term investments and that values can go up as well 
as down.  As can be seen from the table above, across all of the Property Funds 
and Multi Asset Funds, there is a small increase in the capital values.  This is 
particularly relevant following the introduction of International Financial Reporting 
Standard 9 (IFRS9) which came into effect from 1 April 2018.

11. Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Investments

11.1 When placing an investment, the Council’s investment priorities are security, 
liquidity and yield and therefore it does not have a set of ESG standards to screen 
potential internally managed investments at this time.  However, these factors are 
extremely important to the Council and opportunities will be explored as and when 
they arise.

11.2 However, ESG factors are an important consideration for the Council’s external 
fund managers who administer both the Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds 
and therefore a significant proportion of the Council’s investment portfolio is 
managed with these considerations in mind.  Whilst we cannot stipulate what is 
and is not acceptable for these Funds to consider, Officers do discuss and 
receive briefings from Fund Managers as to the ESG credentials of the funds on a 
regular basis.

12. OTHER

12.1 In February 2015 the Authority became a shareholder in the Municipal Bonds 
Agency (MBA), with an investment of £20,000.  The MBA was established by the 
Local Government Association (LGA) in the belief that it would provide councils 
with the opportunity to raise funds at significantly lower rates that those offered by 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).

12.2 The MBA has now issued its first bond and officers are continuing to work closely 
with the MBA and will consider the appropriateness of any borrowing offer when 
the need to borrow arises.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no Background Papers pertaining to this Report.

Page 62



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal As per section 1.13B.67 of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Finance officer has 
delegated responsibility from Cabinet. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury Management were 
identified in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 
23 February 2021.  Officers continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and 
identify mitigating actions to minimise risks.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising the exposure to risk.  In 
order to achieve this, investments are only placed with institutions which meet the 
criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do not exceed those as 
advised by Capita Asset Services credit ratings which are associated with the 
specific institutions.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings and options in order 
to ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 63

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Successfully 
Managing Key Business Risks.

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure appropriate governance around 
capital expenditure are set out in the Capital Strategy. 

Climate Change Climate Change implications are one consideration of ESG investments which are 
covered in Section 11 of this report.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 64



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Draft report to Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 10 November 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Mid-Year Review of the 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee with mid-year progress information 
in respect of all risks recorded in the 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register, which can be found at 
Appendix II of this report.  

Recommendations:
Members are requested to:

1. Note the progress made, as set out in Appendix III, in managing or mitigating each 
risk recorded within the 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register.

2. Voice any concerns regarding the extent of progress that has been made so that if 
required; these concerns can be raised at the next Cabinet meeting.

3. Start preparing for the development of the 2022-23 Corporate Risk Register, putting 
forward suggestions for any current risks that should be removed and/or propose any 
new and emerging risks that should be considered for assessment.

1. Introduction and Background

1.1   Finance and Audit Committee have a responsibility to monitor the effective 
development and operation of risk management and corporate governance at 
Gravesham Borough Council. 

1.2 The 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register has been approved by Full Council on 13 
April 2021 and a copy of the register is attached at Appendix II of this report for 
information.  

1.3 During development of the register, the five strategic risks listed below scored 
above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold, therefore these risks and relevant 
details are recorded in the register. 

1) Ongoing financial viability of the council.
2) Changes in national priorities and legislative change.
3) Organisational capacity/resilience.
4) Cyberattack resulting in data breach or, corruption of data.
5) Investment Risk.

1.4 Other risks assessed during development were:

Page 65 Agenda Item 9



2

1) Universal credit. 
2) Civil risk - major disaster.
3) Digital transformation and remote working.
4) Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union.

1.5 These risks generated medium and/or low scores and for this reason they are not 
included in the register, but instead, they are being managed at service level.

1.6 The purpose of this report is to present Members with relevant information at mid- 
year, so that they can monitor the actions that have been taken to manage the 
five strategic risks listed in paragraph 1.3 above.  

2.   Monitoring of actions. 

 2.1     A number of actions have been agreed to effectively manage each of the five 
strategic risks recorded in the 2021-22 register.  Appendix III of this report 
provides the following information: 

1) The number and title of each risk.
2) Background information about each risk.
3) The consequences of the risk should it materialise.
4) The inherent and residual risk score.
5) The actions that have been agreed to manage each risk.
6) The lead officer responsible for overseeing the agreed actions.
7) An update on the progress of actions carried out, as at mid-year. 
8) A colour coded quarterly risk assessment, to illustrate the effectiveness of 

actions that have been carried out, where Red is inadequate; Amber is 
satisfactory and Green is good.

2.2 Members of the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to review the 
information presented in Appendix III of this report and determine whether or not 
the effectiveness of risk management actions is considered satisfactory. Any 
additional actions that are considered appropriate to further manage or mitigate 
each risk should be discussed, so that these can be referred to Cabinet for further 
consideration

3.    Development of the 2022-23 Corporate Risk Register

       3.1 The development of the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23 will 
commence in December 2021.  Members are therefore requested initiate the 
process by putting forward suggestions for any new or emerging risks for 
consideration, as well as recommend which of the existing risks should be carried 
forward.  

4.    Background Papers

       4.1    There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 66



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential issues 
associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the council moving 
forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with legislative change to 
ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the Corporate 
Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key corporate risks identified 
within the Corporate Risk register and a specific update against this risk is included 
within appendix three.

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 67

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor strategic risks 
contributes to the delivery of Corporate Plan Objective #3: Progress: drive service 
improvement and corporate governance.

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 68



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER

2021-2022

Page 69



2 | P a g e

 
Gravesham’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management 
exercise conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of 
the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The key risks facing the council were 
identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit Committee 
Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other senior 
managers.

The Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls 
currently in place to respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to 
properly manage these risks.  The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement 
are assessed as one of the following:

 Good – actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required.
 Adequate – whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work 

that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.
 Inadequate – the action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and 

therefore further work is required.

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk 
for the council:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4

Medium Risk
Low Risk

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

Page 70



3 | P a g e

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact

Likelihood:
Rating Score

Very High 5
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years.

Impact:
Rating Score

Critical 4

The financial impact on the authority would threaten the council’s 
financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be 
affected either permanently or for a long duration and the council 
could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a seriously 
damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor media 
coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be significant although 
would not threaten the stability of the councils financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which would 
take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2

There may be financial impact on the authority and/or the cost of 
mitigating the risk could exceed the financial implications of the risk 
there may be disruption to services and possibly delays in 
achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage which could affect the council in the long term.

Negligible 1
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  
There is no risk of this risk impacting on the councils reputation 

Page 71



4 | P a g e

All risks identified for 2021-2022 and their assessments are plotted in the Heat Map and are 
summarised in the table below: 

     

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register.

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

Very High 5 2,3
High 4 1,4

Medium 3 7 8 5

Low 2 9 6
Very Low 1

1 2 3 4
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

LI
KE

LI
HO

O
D

Hig Risk
Medium Risk
Low Risk IMPACT

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the 
Finance and Audit Committee.   

As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks

Page 72



5 | P a g e

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1
Assessment 
Date

 January 2021

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk 
Background

Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest 
of local government, has experienced significant and sustained cuts to 
its funding whilst demand on services has risen.  The Council 
proactively responded to these financial challenges by implementing a 
programme of activity designed to increase income and reduce 
expenditure, successfully delivering £4.25m of base budget reduction 
by 2020.
New financial challenges have arisen due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
The Council has experienced immediate losses in-year against 
collection against key income lines such as council tax, business 
rates, car parking and investment income.  These income lines are 
likely to take a period of time to recover and, in some instances, may 
take a significant time to recover to pre-covid levels.
There also remains great uncertainty around the way in which local 
government will be funded in the future; many central government 
funding announcements have been put on hold this year due to 
parliamentary and government departmental time being diverted to 
responding to the Covid-19 pandemic and the end of the transition 
period of the UK leaving the EU.  Local government finds itself once 
again being issued with a single year settlement, with no certainty of 
the mechanism by which local government will be funded in future 
years, making longer term planning extremely challenging.

Consequences  Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the 
future level of government funding support and how the business 
rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the 
council (including retained business rates) beyond the levels 
projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures. 

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from 
changes to funding and any redesigned business rates scheme. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of 
delivery, potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation. 

 Financial savings not achieved. 
 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 
 Problems stored up for the future. 
 Minimum working balance of £2 million is not maintained. 
 New legislative requirements not met. 
 Uncertainty over future large projects. 
 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 
 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for 

Business Rates payers without compensation from central 

Page 73



6 | P a g e

government.

Controls already 
in place 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place
 Medium Term Financial Plan in place
 Robust budget monitoring arrangements in place

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Medium Term Financial Strategy
Medium Term Financial Plan
Budget monitoring process

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Continue to review reserves and working balance 
annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves 
as a means to manage cash flow, future 
requirements and unexpected events.
Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives 
and the core principles that underpin these.
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the 
Fair Funding Review, Retained Business Rates 
Scheme design and other local government funding 
reform are known.

Director 
(Corporate Services)

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services)

February 
2022

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 
Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review, 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme and 
other local government funding reform once known.

Director 
(Corporate Services)

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services)

Ongoing to 
March 2022

Continue the programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System. 
Ensure adequate compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements. 
Continue to proactively respond to central 
government consultations on funding for local 
government.

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services)

Ongoing to 
March 2022

Target for end of the 2021-2022  financial year

Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9

Page 74



7 | P a g e

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative 
change

Risk No. 2

Assessment 
Date

 January 2021

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Cabinet 
Portfolio

All Portfolios

Risk 
Background

Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of 
legislation, national priorities including Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) to ensure that it is best placed to 
respond to any implications for its operations or the Borough more 
widely. 
The last year has created new challenges in responding to the council 
in responding to government policy announcements, particularly at 
short notice as Central Government led the national response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  As the country enters the recovery phase, further 
policy guidance and legislation is expected from this, in addition to 
legislative changes to respond to the end of the transition period of the 
UK exiting the EU.  On enactment of relevant legislation, the council 
will potentially face new statutory duties, responsibilities or standards 
with which to adhere, potentially challenging existing services and 
working practices. 
In respect of NSIP, current proposals that are being progressed 
include:
• Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham)
• Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
• London Resort (in Dartford/Gravesham)
The council will need to ensure it has access to sufficient and 
appropriate resources to enable it to effectively respond to these 
proposals as further information is released.  

Consequences  Change of strategic direction for the council. 
 Breakdown in governance controls and processes.
 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for 

legal challenge. 
 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to deliver 

the corporate objectives and policy commitments within the 
Corporate Plan. 

 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and 
effectiveness of the council’s supply chain.

 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a failure 
to meet community needs and expectations. 

 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, 
sickness absence and future recruitment and retention. 

 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and 
community stakeholders / reputational damage.

 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses to 
consultations and other processes quickly

Page 75



8 | P a g e

Controls already 
in place 

 Timely policy insight.
 Informing government policy.
 Engagement with partner agencies.
 Business continuity planning.
 Member training and development.
 Proactive briefing and information sharing arrangements between 

council departments, Members and staff.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Corporate Plan 2019-2023
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Circulation of monthly policy briefings and timely 
legislative updates.

Corporate 
Performance 

Manager

March 2022

Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), 
deliver proactive responses to formal consultations 
and policy papers from central government to ensure 
Gravesham’s strategic position is effectively 
represented. 

Wider Management 
Team

Ongoing to 
March 2022

Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s 
partnership working arrangements and sustaining 
Gravesham’s involvement with key stakeholder 
agencies and working groups on a national and local 
basis including (but not exclusive to):
- Local Government Association
- District Councils Network 
- Kent Finance Officers Group
- Kent Resilience Forum

Wider Management 
Team

Ongoing to 
March 2022

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

Wider Management 
Team

March 2022

Member Training and Development Plan prepared 
and delivered to provide ongoing support all 
Members. 

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider 

Management Team

March 2022

Develop effective working practices between 
departments to enable information sharing and 
coordination of responses on behalf of the council. 
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular 
updates to be provided to Members.

Director 
(Planning & 

Development)

March 2022

Target for end of the 2021-2022  financial year
Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Page 76



9 | P a g e

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3
Assessment 
Date

 January 2021

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk 
Background

The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of 
arrangements to help the effective direction of the council’s finite 
staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the 
cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-contractual overtime 
(except in exceptional circumstances). This is intended to reduce the 
risk of key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and 
improving organisational capacity and resilience where needed, 
identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and 
developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and staff.
In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to 
manage the aging operational buildings from which it delivers services 
to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its 
ways of working and the methods of access preferred by service 
users.
The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope 
with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe 
weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services 
can continue to be delivered, particularly in light of the current 
coronavirus outbreak. 
The council’s workforce, particularly those office based staff, have 
needed to adapt to working practices due to the Covid -19 pandemic 
and there is an increase in the level of work completed remotely.

Consequences • Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed 
on resources, this in turn could lead to the council struggling to 
meet changes in demand for services.

• Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which 
in turn will add pressures on already stretched resources.

• Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, 
which in turn can reduce staff motivation, create low morale and 
increase sickness and stress levels.

• The council will be required to provide additional help and support 
to overcome the problems that result from increased 
organisational stress.

• Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls 
could result due to there being insufficient staff resources to carry 
out essential roles and responsibilities.

• Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also 
possible

Controls already 
in place 

Effective allocation of resources
Flexible working arrangements
Provision of training and support 
Workforce Support.

Page 77



10 | P a g e

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
Workforce Development Plan

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

All requests for filling of vacant posts are reviewed by 
Management Team and in addition posts that have 
been vacant for over a year are reviewed on an 
annual basis.
The shared service arrangements are reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure that they continue to meet our 
objectives.
Due to Covid-19 existing staff have been allocated to 
new tasks and others areas of work, this work if on-
going.

Management Team Ongoing to 
March 2022

A Task and Finish working group has been 
established to consider Homeworking/Flexible working 
arrangements going forward. 
Any necessary action plans identified by the working 
group, will be implemented to inform and shape future 
working arrangements and updates will be made to 
HR policies and procedures to support this.
A full review of Apprenticeships and work experience 
is currently being reviewed and taken forward at the 
current time.
Currently a large number of office based staff are 
home working, with a skeleton staff coming into the 
offices.  We continue to review our working practices 
to ensure that our staff welfare is being considered 
during this unsettling times, but also that the service 
we provide to our residents remain unaffected.

Management Team Ongoing to 
March 2022

Training at the moment continues to be undertaken 
virtually and the support of our employees remains a 
priority, so we continue to respond to issues and 
provide new equipment during this time.  In addition 
we also remain committed to our employee’s mental 
health during these unsettling times and ensure that 
all managers are communicating on a regular basis.  
In addition the Chief Executive sends out to all staff a 
weekly letter which contains all council and Covid-19 
updates, this has proven to be very popular and 
effective.
All staff are being encouraged to attend for regular 
testing at the no-symptom centres and majority of staff 
are being tested on a 2 weekly basis.

Director 
(Communities)

Ongoing to 
March 2022

Page 78



11 | P a g e

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the 
workforce on key issues regarding the Council and 
give employees the opportunity to raise any concerns 
they may have.
Deliver the IIP action plan.
Continue to actively proactively and positively engage 
with Trade Unions.
Continue communication to promote Occupational 
Health, the Employee Assistance Programme and the 
Mental Health Champions as further confidential 
support services for staff.

Director 
(Communities)

Jan 2022

A small group of staff continue to lead on the Covid 
compliant plans for all Civic Buildings.  Regular 
checks are carried out to ensure compliance and we 
continue to adjust and change our working practices 
to ensure compliance with government advice.  Our 
good working practices include additional screens, an 
enhanced cleaning regime, one way systems, virtual 
meetings and reduced occupancy in office 
environments to deal with the one metre distancing 
rules.

Director 
(Communities)

Jan 2022

Plans have been updated in line with Covid-19 
changes and are currently being reviewed in line with 
the County approach to the Brexit withdrawal 
arrangements.

Management Team Ongoing 
March
2022

Target for end of the 2021-2022 year
Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Page 79



12 | P a g e

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or 
corruption of data

Risk No. 4

Assessment 
Date

January 2021

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Leader

Risk 
Background

As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a 
cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more important. Whilst 
there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by 
the National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber 
methods remains the most likely motivation. Since the onset of the 
Covid-19 pandemic there has been a significant increase in 
cybercrime as noted in the NCSC Annual Review 2020.
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to 
reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be attacked, 
unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined 
attacker can defeat even the most secure systems.
The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since 
constant management action is required to ensure we do not slip 
backwards with our arrangements and defences.
Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident 
response plans.

Consequences • Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery.
• Destruction of systems and data.
• Theft of data for criminal use.
• Financial loss.
• Reputational damage.
• Extended period to recover council services to usual business

Controls already 
in place 

 Technical security controls
 Back up arrangements in place
 Participation with relevant warning bodies
 Direct engagement with cyber bodies
 Improvements to existing controls
 Expansion of Business Continuity Plan
 Engagement with Local Resilience Partnership
 Conduct cyberattack exercise scenario

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Business Continuity Plans

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services)

Page 80



13 | P a g e

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Due to other commitments the new web and email filtering 
capability has not been progressed, but existing control 
systems have been arranged to remain in place for a 
further year.
The log monitoring system has been updated and the 
configuration reviewed.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

The existing offsite arrangements continue. The 
enhancements have been delayed by approximately six 
months.  This is due to the physical delivery and 
installations not being possible due to the governments 
Covid-19 restrictions being in place at the time.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and 
Reporting Points (WARP) Group.
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the 
National Cyber Security Centre.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security 
Centre and make use of their Active Cyber defence tools.
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber 
Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to promote 
best practice and awareness of cyber issues to the local 
government sector.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to upgrade 
council devices and maintain the patch management 
solution (ensuring computers can be kept up to date with 
software updates), as well as the Mobile Device 
Management (MDM) and Secure Email solutions to better 
protect mobile devices.
Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB device 
control.
In light of the shift to working from home, additional 
enhancements have been made to our antivirus and end 
point management software to better serve users wherever 
they are located.
Enhancements have also been made to our email system 
configuration to better protect the reputation and brand of 
our email domain, preventing use by unauthorised users. 
In a recent survey conducted of all local government email 
domains, Gravesham are in the top 1% for steps taken to 
protect our reputation.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

A new business continuity environment has now been built 
at Brookvale depot. Hardware is in place and the software 
to replicate systems is in the final stages of 
commissioning. The corporate move to the cloud based 
Microsoft 365 suite of products has also enabled additional 
business continuity resilience to be set up in the cloud.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

The Kent Resilience Forum have deferred this work due to 
the level of resources being required for Covid-19 
response.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & 

IT)

Ongoing 
to March

2022

Page 81



14 | P a g e

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Following on from deploying staff awareness training in 
July, an email phishing simulation is being planned for 
delivery in February 2021.

Assistant 
Director

(Transformation 
& IT)

Ongoing 
to March 

2022

Target for end of the 2021-2022 financial year
Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9

Page 82



15 | P a g e

The Risk Investment risk Risk No. 5
Assessment 
Date

January 2021

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Leader

Risk 
Background

As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and 
sustained cuts, over the last four years the council has increased its 
exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the 
diversification of its investment activity and Property Acquisition 
Strategy.
The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and 
Property Funds; this provides greater opportunities for the council to 
generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks 
and building societies, but also greater exposure to fluctuations in the 
capital value of the investments held.
To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in 
seven commercial property holdings valued at £22m, generating some 
£1.5m in rental income per annum.  The strategy does, however, 
expose the council to risks around movements in commercial property 
values and the strength of financial standing of the tenants of these 
properties.
The Covid-19 pandemic has realised these risks, affecting investment 
and commercial rental returns.  Whilst the impact is assessed as 
significant, it has not yet seriously impacted the council’s financial 
position and ability to deliver services. The financial impacts may be 
felt, however, for a number of years as the economy recovers.

Consequences  Investments do not perform as expected. E.g. due to economic 
downturn, which impacts on the balance sheet value of assets.

 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if 
commercial tenants fail or hand back premises when their lease 
allows.

 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed 
anticipated levels e.g. due to increased void periods and 
associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility, maintenance and 
refurbishment costs.

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income 
and investment income that are not achieved, affecting core 
council service delivery.

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded.
 Negative impact on council reputation

Controls already 
in place 

 Treasury and Investment Framework.
 Monitoring and review of treasury activity.
 Financial protection. 
 Professional advice and support.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

 Treasury Management Strategy.
 Capital Strategy.
 Property Acquisition Strategy.

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services)

Page 83



16 | P a g e

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead 
Officer(s)

Target 
Date

Continue to maintain the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Capital Strategy and Property Acquisition 
Strategy to formalise the agreed parameters for investment.

Assistant 
Director

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2022

Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring of 
treasury and commercial investment activity, to both 
officers and Members, to report and review performance of 
the diversified investment portfolio.

Assistant 
Director

(Corporate 
Services)

Quarterly 
to March 

2022

Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, the 
balance of which is set at 15% of investment income in any 
year.
Continue the close working relationship between Financial 
Services and Property Services to enable early 
identification of any risks or opportunities from the council’s 
commercial property portfolio.

Assistant 
Director

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2022

Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought from the 
council’s Treasury and Economic advisors and other 
experts as required.
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate due 
diligence, including seeking advice and support from 
external experts as required.

Assistant 
Director

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2022

Target for end of the 2021-2022 financial year
Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9

Page 84



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 
Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Risk Register Outlines the key strategic Risks facing the council and controls that are implemented to manage these risks.  
It also details any further action required by the council to ensure risks are being sufficiently controlled. 
 
The Risks that were identified and formally approved by Full Council on the 13th April 2021, are listed below. These risks have been documented in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register: 
 
 

Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council  
 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change   
 
Risk 3: Organisational capacity/ resilience 
  
Risk 4: Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 
 
Risk 5: Investment Risk 
 

 
 

This document provides mid-year progress information in respect of the management of each of the above risks.  The effectiveness of risk management actions that have been carried out as at mid-year, are 
assessed as being one of the following: 

 

     Actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 

Whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.  

 

 

The action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and therefore further work is required. 

 
  

Good 
 

Satisfactory 

Inadequate 

P
age 85



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

Risk 1: On-going financial viability of the Council  
 

 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 

 
Risk Background:  
Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest of local government, has experienced 
significant and sustained cuts to its funding whilst demand on services has risen. The Council proactively responded 
to these financial challenges by implementing a programme of activity designed to increase income and reduce 
expenditure, successfully delivering £4.25m of base budget reduction by 2020. 
 
New financial challenges have arisen due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council has experienced immediate losses 
in-year against collection against key income lines such as council tax, business rates, car parking and investment 
income. These income lines are likely to take a period of time to recover and, in some instances, may take a 
significant time to recover to pre-Covid levels.  
 
There also remains great uncertainty around the way in which local government will be funded in the future; many 
central government funding announcements have been put on hold this year due to parliamentary and government 
departmental time being diverted to responding to the Covid-19 pandemic and the end of the transition period of the 
UK leaving the EU. Local government finds itself once again being issued with a single year settlement, with no 
certainty of the mechanism by which local government will be funded in future years, making longer term planning 
extremely challenging. 

 
Consequences: 

 Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the future level of 
government funding support and how the business rates retention scheme will 
operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the council 
(including retained business rates) beyond the levels projected in the MTFP to 
support other departmental funding pressures. 

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from changes to 
funding and any redesigned business rates scheme. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, 
potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation. 

 Financial savings not achieved. 

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 

 Problems stored up for the future. 

 Minimum working balance of £2 million is not maintained. 

 New legislative requirements not met. 

 Uncertainty over future large projects. 

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates 
payers without compensation from central government. 

 
 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
place. 

  

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continue to review reserves and working balance 
annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves as 
a means to manage cash flow, future requirements 
and unexpected events. 
Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives 
and the core principles that underpin these. 
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council, once the outcomes of the 
Fair Funding Review, Retained Business Rates 
Scheme design and other local government funding 
reform are known. 

The spending review for 2021 was launched on 7th 
September and is expected to conclude on 27th 
October. Although a three year settlement is 
expected, longer term financial planning remains 
challenging as the effects of Central Government 
support starts to unwind over the coming months. 

As a result of the above we will continue to closely 
monitor reserves and working balances. 

    

P
age 86



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.2 Medium Term Financial Plan in 
place. 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 
Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review, 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme and 
other local government funding reform once known. 

Officers monitor the MTFP on a quarterly basis 
which aligns to quarterly budget reporting 
arrangements.  A budget gap has been identified in 
2026/27. Steps will be taken to address this over the 
coming months as part of the budget setting process 
for 2022/23. 

    

1.3 Robust Budget Monitoring process 
in place. 

Assistant Director 

 (Corporate Services) 

Continue the programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System. 
Ensure adequate compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements. 
Continue to proactively respond to central government 
consultations on funding for local government. 

Effective budget monitoring is in place. The council 
continues to respond to Government consultations 
as appropriate. 

    

P
age 87



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  
 

 
Owner: Chief Executive and Management Team 

 
Risk Background:  
Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of legislation, national priorities including Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) to ensure that it is best placed to respond to any implications for its 
operations or the Borough more widely. 
 
The last year has created new challenges in responding to the council in responding to government policy 
announcements, particularly at short notice as Central Government led the national response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. As the country enters the recovery phase, further policy guidance and legislation is expected from this, in 
addition to legislative changes to respond to the end of the transition period of the UK exiting the EU. On enactment 
of relevant legislation, the council will potentially face new statutory duties, responsibilities or standard with which to 
adhere, potentially challenging existing services and working practices. 
 
In respect of NSIP, current proposals that are being progressed include: 
 
• Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham) 
• Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury) 
• London Resort (in Dartford/Gravesham) 
 
The council will need to ensure it has access to sufficient and appropriate resources to enable it to effectively 
respond to these proposals as further information is released. 

 
Consequences: 

 Change of strategic direction for the council. 

 Breakdown in governance controls and processes. 

 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for legal challenge. 

 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to deliver the corporate 
objectives and policy commitments within the Corporate Plan.  

 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and effectiveness of the 
council’s supply chain. 

 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a failure to meet community 
needs and expectations. 

 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, sickness absence and 
future recruitment and retention.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and community stakeholders / 
reputational damage. 

 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses to consultations and 
other processes quickly 

 
 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.1 Timely policy insight. 

  

Corporate Performance Manager Circulation of monthly policy briefings and timely 
legislative updates. 

Regular policy briefings were delivered throughout 
the 6-month period to ensure officers are fully 
informed of government policy initiatives or 
potential changes affecting service areas and the 
wider council. From this activity relevant Service 
Managers report to Management Team on 
government proposals impacting upon their areas 
and the potential impact on the council’s progress 
towards achieving its corporate objectives  

In terms of government legislation, the Queen’s 
Speech took place in May 2021, introducing the 
government’s formal programme of prospective 
legislation for the new parliamentary session. 
Arguably the most notable piece of legislation for 
local government enacted during the first half of 
2021-22 was the Domestic Abuse Act. 

    

P
age 88



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

   The Act has the aim of strengthening the support 
on offer for victims of abuse by statutory agencies, 
which in the council’s area of responsibility 
primarily relates to housing allocation. Other key 
Bills currently under parliamentary consideration 
include the Environment Bill and tools to monitor 
the government’s programme (e.g. legislative 
briefings) will continue to be used to provide insight 
on any impact on local government. 

    

2.2 Informing government policy. Wider Management Team Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), 
deliver proactive responses to formal consultations 
and policy papers from central government to ensure 
Gravesham’s strategic position is effectively 
represented. 
 

During the year to date, the council has continued 
to effectively represent its position in the process of 
central government consultations. This is carried 
out individually on behalf of the council, or 
collaboratively with other neighbouring district 
authorities, or as part of a wider network group 
(Local Government Association, District Councils’ 
Network (DCN) etc.).  

Adopting this tailored approach ensures that the 
views of the council are communicated back to 
government so that they may be taken into account 
as policy decisions are formulated ahead of any 
new legislative programme.  

In the last six months the council’s efforts have 
included formal responses to the following 
consultations:  

 Business Rates revaluation;  

 Consistency of Household and Business 
Recycling Collections;  

 Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) Policy; and 

 Extended Producer Responsibility Policy. 

    

2.3 Engagement with partner agencies Wider Management Team  Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s 
partnership working arrangements and sustaining 
Gravesham’s involvement with key stakeholder 
agencies and working groups on a national and local 
basis including (but not exclusive to): 
- Local Government Association. 
- District Councils Network. 
- Kent Finance Officers Group. 
- Kent Resilience Forum. 

The council has reviewed its Working in 
Partnership Framework, which was duly approved 
by Full Council in June 2021 and adopted as part of 
the council’s overall Policy framework. This 
document clearly sets out the key points to be 
considered when establishing any new 
partnerships, and sets out the roles and 
responsibilities of both officers and Members in 
partnership-working.  This document has been 
shared with the Wider Management Team. 

Cabinet Committees have received specific 
updates on the partnerships that fall within their 
portfolio for consideration (September 2021). 

    

P
age 89



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

   Officers if the council continue to be part of a number 
of working groups across the county to ensure a 
county-wide approach to issues where necessary. 

    

2.4 Business continuity planning. Wider Management Team Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 

updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose 
Existing Business Continuity plans have been 
adjusted to include additional risks associated with 
Covid-19 and the end of the transition period of the 
UK exiting the EU. The council’s overall Business 
Continuity Management System is due for planned 
update/ review in 2022. 

    

2.5 Member training and development. Committee Services 

Wider Management Team 

Member Training and Development Plan prepared 
and delivered to provide ongoing support all 
Members 

The Council's Member Training and Development 
Plan has been successfully prepared and sessions 
began in July 2021.  
 
The format of the training embraces a mixture of in-
person, virtual sessions and e-learning. 
 
To date the following session have been held: 

 Safeguarding Training 

 Communications and Social Media Training 

 Risk Management Training 

 Council Procedure Rules and Interpreting the 
Constitution 

 Planning Refresher Training 

    

2.6 Proactive briefing and information 
sharing arrangements between council 
departments, members and staff. 

Director  

(Environment) and Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Develop effective working practices between 
departments to enable information sharing and 
coordination of responses on behalf of the council. 
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular 
updates to be provided to Members. 

Responses to NSIP consultations are coordinated 
between relevant departments (including Planning, 
Environmental Health, Property, Leisure and 
Finance) to ensure that appropriate considerations 
are taken into account. Draft consultation responses 
are reviewed at Management Team.  All Members 
are made aware of NSIP consultations via email and 
the formal consultation responses from the council 
are also reviewed by the Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Environment. 

    

P
age 90



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

Risk 3: Organisational capacity/resilience 
 

 
Owner: Chief Executive and Management Team 

 
Risk Background:  
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help the effective direction of the 
council’s finite staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the cessation of temporary staff 
contracts and non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances). This is intended to reduce the risk of 
key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and improving organisational capacity and resilience 
where needed identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and developing the skills and abilities of 
key leaders and staff. 
 
In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to manage the aging operational buildings from 
which it delivers services to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its ways of working and 
the methods of access preferred by service users. 
 
The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope with other potential impacts on capacity which 
may result from severe weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services can continue to be 
delivered, particularly in light of the current coronavirus outbreak. 
 
The council’s workforce, particularly those office based staff, have needed to adapt to working practices due to the 
Covid -19 pandemic and there is an increase in the level of work completed remotely. 
 

 
Consequences: 

• Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed on resources, this 
in turn could lead to the council struggling to meet changes in demand for services. 

• Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which in turn will add 
pressures on already stretched resources. 

• Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, which in turn can 
reduce staff motivation, create low morale and increase sickness and stress levels. 

• The council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome the 
problems that result from increased organisational stress. 

• Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls could result due to 
there being insufficient staff resources to carry out essential roles and responsibilities. 

• Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also possible. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.1 Effective allocation of resources. Management Team All requests for filling of vacant posts are reviewed by 
Management Team and in addition posts that have 
been vacant for over a year are reviewed on an 
annual basis. 
The shared service arrangements are reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure that they continue to meet our 
objectives. 
Due to Covid-19 existing staff have been allocated to 
new tasks and others areas of work, this work if 
ongoing. 

Any new posts are subject to approval via 
management team.  Like for like replacement 
vacancies no longer need management team 
approval.  Vacant posts continue to be reviewed on 
an annual basis.   

Shared service arrangements continue to be 
reviewed on an annual basis. 

Staff who were allocated to new tasks in response to 
the COVID pandemic have now moved back to their 
substantive posts.  In light of the pandemic HR now 
hold records on additional skills our employees may 
have in order to allocate resources effectively should 
an emergency response be required in the future. 

    

3.2 Flexible working arrangements. Management Team A Task and Finish working group has been 
established to consider Homeworking/Flexible working 
arrangements going forward. 

A new Hybrid Working Policy has been created and 
will be implemented on 1 November 2021 for a trial 
and employees will be expected to work a minimum 

    

P
age 91



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  Any necessary action plans identified by the working 
group, will be implemented to inform and shape future 
working arrangements and updates will be made to 
HR policies and procedures to support this. 
 

of two days from the office, depending on the needs 
of the service 

    

  A full review of Apprenticeships and work experience 
is currently being reviewed and taken forward at the 
current time. 
Currently a large number of office based staff are 
home working, with a skeleton staff coming into the 
offices.  
We continue to review our working practice to ensure 
that our staff welfare is being considered during this 
unsettling times, but also that the service we provide 
to our residents remain unaffected. 

A new post of Employability Co-ordinator joined the 
Council in August 2021.  This post is responsible for 
the Kick Start Scheme, Apprenticeships and Work 
Experience Placements.  New strategies for each of 
these areas are currently in development. 

Employees have already started returning to the 
office with COVID restrictions from H&S remaining in 
place. 

Wellbeing surveys and questionnaires were being 
undertaken throughout the COVID pandemic and HR 
drop in sessions were also undertaken as a keeping 
in touch mechanism. 

The Employee Assistance Provider CareFirst ran 
daily webinars throughout the pandemic and 
continue to do with a number of health and wellbeing 
topics available. 

    

3.3 Provision of training and support. Director  

(Communities) 

Training at the moment continues to be undertake  
virtually and the support of our employees remains a 
priority, so we continue to respond to issues and 
provide new equipment during this time. In addition 
we also remain committed to our employee’s mental 
health during these unsettling times and ensure that 
all managers are communicating on a regular basis. 
In addition the Chief Executive sends out to all staff a 
weekly letter which contains all council and Covid-19 
updates, this has proven to be very popular and 
effective. 
All staff are being encouraged to attend for regular 
testing at the no-symptom centres and majority of staff 
are being tested on a 2 weekly basis. 

All line managers will be undertaking training in 
November 2021 on Leadership Behaviours for 
Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams. 

Training for our employees has continued and is now 
increasing since the pandemic and a number of 
employees have undertaken training (including 
qualification training).  Any requests for training are 
now submitted via the DASH system. 

The weekly email from the Chief Executive is still 
continuing and continues to be effective in sharing 
key messages to all employees. 

Employees are still being encouraged to take lateral 
flow tests twice a week.   

    

3.4 Workforce support. Director 

(Communities) 

Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the 
workforce on key issues regarding the Council and 
give employees the opportunity to raise any concerns 
they may have. 
Deliver the IIP action plan. 
Continue to actively proactively and positively engage 
with Trade Unions. 
Continue communication to promote Occupational 

The joint staff forum has continued throughout the 
pandemic albeit virtually.  We are in the process of 
reviewing the format and the appointment of new 
representatives to ensure the whole workforce is 
represented at the meetings. 

The IIP review which was due in October 2021 has 
been postponed to April 2022.  The action plan is still 

    

P
age 92



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.5 Covid compliant plans Director  

(Communities) 

A small group of staff continue to lead on the Covid 
compliant plans for all Civic Buildings. Regular checks 
are carried out to ensure compliance and we continue 
to adjust and change our working practices to ensure 
compliance with government advice. Our 
good working practices include additional screens, an 
enhanced cleaning regime, one way systems, virtual 
meetings and reduced occupancy in office 
environments to deal with the one metre distancing 
rules. 

The offices were assessed as COVID compliant 
during the pandemic and any amendments were 
made as necessary as a result of Government 
Guidance changing. 

 

    

 

Management  Team Plans have been updated in line with Covid-19 
changes and are currently being reviewed in line with 
the County approach to the Brexit withdrawal 
arrangements. 

H&S are currently reviewing the measures still in 
place within the offices as a result of COVID social 
distancing restrictions being lifted and the 
implementation of the Hybrid Working Policy. 

    

P
age 93



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

Risk 4: Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 
 

 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 

 
Risk Background:  
As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more 
important. Whilst there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by the National Cyber Security 
Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods remains the most likely motivation.  
 
Since the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic there has been a significant increase in cybercrime as noted in the NCSC 
Annual Review 2020. Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to reduce the ease at which an IT 
Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can defeat even 
the most secure systems. 
 
The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since constant management action is required to ensure 
we do not slip backwards with our arrangements and defences. 
 
Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident response plans. 
 

 
Consequences: 

 Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery. 

 Destruction of systems and data. 

 Theft of data for criminal use. 

 Financial loss. 

 Reputational damage. 

 Extended period to recover council services to usual business 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 
 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.1 Technical Security controls. Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Due to other commitments the new web and email 
filtering capability has not been progressed, but 
existing control systems have been arranged to 
remain in place for a further year. 
 
The log monitoring system has been updated and the 
configuration reviewed.  

The setup and configuration of web and email 
filtering have been recently reviewed. Anti-virus 
software has also been updated to a newer cloud 
based version. 

    

4.2 Back up arrangements in place. Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

The existing offsite arrangements continue. The 
enhancements have been delayed by approximately 
six months. This is due to the physical delivery and 
installations not being possible due to the 
governments Covid-19 restrictions being in place at 
the time. 

New data backup solution has been installed which 
features enhanced ransomware protection and 
immutable storage. 

 

    

4.3 Participation with relevant warning 
bodies. 

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and 
Reporting Points (WARP) Group. 
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the 
National Cyber Security Centre. 

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and 
Reporting Points (WARP) Group. 
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by 
the National Cyber Security Centre. 

    

P
age 94



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 
 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.4 Direct engagement with cyber bodies. Assistant Director 

(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security 
Centre and make use of their Active Cyber defence 
tools. 
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber 
Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to 
promote best practice and awareness of cyber issues 
to the local government sector. 

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security 
Centre and make use of their Active Cyber defence 
tools. 
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber 

Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to 
promote best practice and awareness of cyber 
issues to the local government sector. 

    

4.5 Improvement to existing controls. Assistant Director 

(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to 
upgrade council devices and maintain the patch 
management solution (ensuring computers can be 
kept up to date with software updates), as well as the 
Mobile Device Management (MDM) and Secure Email 
solutions to better protect mobile devices. 
Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB 
device control. 
In light of the shift to working from home, additional 
enhancements have been made to our antivirus and 
end point management software to better serve users 
wherever they are located. 
Enhancements have also been made to our email 
system configuration to better protect the reputation 
and brand of our email domain, preventing use by 
unauthorised users. 
In a recent survey conducted of all local government 
email domains, Gravesham are in the top 1% for steps 
taken to protect our reputation. 

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to 
upgrade council devices and maintain the patch 
management solution (ensuring computers can be 
kept up to date with software updates). 
 
Improvement have been made with remote access 
to email since the adoption of Microsoft 365. 
 
Further enhancements are required with USB device 
control. 

 

    

4.6 Expansion of Business Continuity Plan. Assistant Director 

(Transformation & IT) 

A new business continuity environment has now been 
built at Brookvale depot. Hardware is in place and the 
software to replicate systems is in the final stages of 
commissioning. The corporate move to the cloud 
based Microsoft 365 suite of products has also 
enabled additional business continuity resilience to be 
set up in the cloud. 

The new business continuity hardware and software 
has been tested, and resulted in a successful 
failover of a live server to the recovery environment. 

    

4.7 Engagement with Local Resilience 
Partnership. 

Assistant Director 

(Transformation & IT) 

The Kent Resilience Forum have deferred this work 
due to the level of resources being required for Covid-
19 response. 

We have actively participated in a Kent Resilience 
Forum cyber workshop, which included discussions 
and presentations with the NCSC, LGA and Kent 
Police. Follow up work is planned internally with our 
own business continuity leads. 

    

4.8 Conduct cyberattack exercise scenario. Assistant Director 

(Transformation & IT) 

Following on from deploying staff awareness training 
in July, an email phishing simulation is being planned 
for delivery in February 202 

A phishing simulation was conducted in August 
2021. Follow up awareness training is scheduled for 
October 2021 

    

P
age 95



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

Risk 5: Investment risk 
 

 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 

 
Risk Background:  
As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and sustained cuts, over the last four years the council has 
increased its exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the diversification of its investment activity and 
Property Acquisition Strategy. 
 
The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and Property Funds; this provides greater opportunities for 
the council to generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks and building societies, but also 
greater exposure to fluctuations in the capital value of the investments held. 
 
To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in seven commercial property holdings valued at £22m, 
generating some £1.5m in rental income per annum. The strategy does, however, expose the council to risks around 
movements in commercial property values and the strength of financial standing of the tenants of these properties. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has realised these risks, affecting investment and commercial rental returns. Whilst the impact is 
assessed as significant, it has not yet seriously impacted the council’s financial position and ability to deliver services. 
The financial impacts may be felt, however, for a number of years as the economy recover. 
 

 
Consequences: 

 Investments do not perform as expected. E.g. due to economic downturn, which 
impacts on the balance sheet value of assets. 

 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if commercial tenants fail 
or hand back premises when their lease allows. 

 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed anticipated levels e.g. due 
to increased void periods and associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility 
maintenance and refurbishment costs. 

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income and investment 
income that are not achieved, affecting core council service delivery. 

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded.  

  Negative impact on council reputation 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 
 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.1 Treasury and Investment Framework. Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Continue to maintain the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Capital Strategy and Property 
Acquisition Strategy to formalise the agreed 
parameters for investment. 

No treasury management issues requiring 
notification to F&A outside of normal reporting cycle.  
Mid-Year TMSS to be presented to F&A committee 
in November 21. 

As a result of the pandemic acquisitions have been 
postponed.  

    

5.2 Monitoring and review of treasury 
activity. 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring 
of treasury and commercial investment activity, to both 
officers and Members, to report and review 
performance of the diversified investment portfolio. 

Q2 treasury activity summary to be reported to 
Management Team during October.  Summarised 
information to be included in the Mid-Year TMSS 
report presented to F&A committee in November 21. 

    

5.3 Financial protection  Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, 
the balance of which is set at 15% of investment 
income in any year. 
from 

The overall provision within Commercial Income 
Protection Reserve was increased to 25% of the 
MTFP Rental Income budget at year-end 2020/21. 
This is to further safeguard the Council’s interests in 
the current economic climate, and will be reviewed  

    

P
age 96



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  Continue the close working relationship between 
Financial Services and Property Services to enable 
early identification of any risks or opportunities from 
the council’s commercial property portfolio 

again during the 2022/23 budget-setting process, 
and at year-end 2021/22.  

Financial and Property Services continue to work 
closely to monitor potential risks and opportunities in 
respect of the Council’s commercial property 
portfolio.  Information is also presented to the 
Commercial Cabinet on a regular basis regarding the 
portfolio. 

    

5.4 Professional advice and support Assistant Director 

(Corporate Services) 

Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought 
from the council’s Treasury and Economic advisors 
and other experts as required. 
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate 
due diligence, including seeking advice and support 
from external experts as required. 

Continued to receive regular economic updates from 
Link during the course of the year.  Meeting held 
between Richard Bason and key officers on 16 
September to review existing portfolio and options 
for consideration. 

    

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 10th November 2021

Reporting officer: Lisa Nyon, Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019

Purpose and summary of report: 
The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update against agreed actions for 
full compliance with the CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019.

Recommendations:
Members are requested to note:

 The completion of the action plan that was presented at this committee on 9th March  
2021

 The results of the recent self –assessment as being fully compliant with the Code.

1. Introduction

1.1 A self-assessment against The Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants 
(CIPFA) Financial Management Code (FM Code) was undertaken in February 
2021. The findings of the self-assessment and resulting action plan were 
presented at this committee on 9th March 2021.

1.2 Members may recall that out of the 17 standards there were two ‘Amber’ rated 
actions for completion these being:-

 The formation of a Risk Management Working Group and

 Consideration of an ‘Options Appraisal Methodology’ when applying Value 
for Money considerations across the council

1.3 It is pleasing to note that officers have concluded work on the action plan at 
Appendix 2 and our latest self-assessment concludes that we are fully compliant 
with the code.

2. Update of Assessment

2.1 For members information, the FM Code consists of 17 financial management 
standards grouped into 6 categories:

Page 99 Agenda Item 10



2

2.1.1 Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction 
based on a vision in which financial management is embedded into 
organisational culture.

2.1.2 Accountability – based on medium-term financial planning that drives the 
annual budget process supported by effective risk management, quality 
supporting data and whole life costs.

2.1.3 Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using 
consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported frequently with 
evidence of periodic officer action and elected member decision making.

2.1.4 Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership 
team and is evidenced.

2.1.5 Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed 
into financial management, including political scrutiny and the results of 
external audit, internal audit and inspection.

2.1.6 The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all 
financial management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of 
public resources.

2.2 Appendix two sets out our updated self-assessment against the financial 
management standards, undertaken by the Finance team and demonstrates full 
compliance with the code.  

2.3 In assessing compliance with the code a RAG rating format has been used as set 
out in the table below.

RAG Rating Number of 
Standards

Definition

RED 0 Significant improvements are required to 
comply with the code

AMBER 0 Moderate improvements are required to 
comply with the code

GREEN 17 Compliant / Minor improvements are 
required to comply with the code

3. Future reporting

3.1 The FM Code states that:
“CIPFA considers application of the FM Code to be a collective responsibility of 
each authority’s organisational leadership team”

The leadership team is defined as elected Members, the Chief Finance Officer 
(CFO) and their professional colleagues in the leadership team

3.2 To ensure on-going compliance with the code an annual self-assessment will be 
conducted by the finance team in order to ensure that the leadership team of the 
council and members of this committee are fully advised on compliance with the 
code going forward.

Page 100



3

4. Background papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining got this report are held by the Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services).  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in 
the first place, be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the 
necessary arrangements

.

Page 101



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal Local government finance in the UK is governed by primary legislation, regulation 
and professional standards as supported by statutory provision.  The general 
financial management of a local authority, however, has not previously been 
supported by a professional code.
Whilst not a legal requirement, the FM Code is designed to support good 
practice in financial management and assist local authorities in demonstrating 
their financial sustainability.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The code sets out guidance to support sound financial decision making and 
specifically, the first element of the code looks to ensure:

The leadership team is able to demonstrate that the services provided by the 
authority provide value for money.

Compliance with the code will support the financial and value for money 
decision making of the authority.

Risk Assessment Compliance with the FM Code will mitigate any potential risks in respect of financial 
management and financial decision-making.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 102

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Corporate Plan This report supports delivery of objective #3 – Progress – in the Corporate Plan and 
specifically the following aims:
- A financially innovative council
- Sound financial management
- Drive service improvement and corporate governance

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - CIPFA – Financial Management Code

FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

LEADERSHIP         Overall Assessment - GREEN

A. The leadership team is 
able to demonstrate that 
the services provided by 
the authority provide 
value for money

 The Management Team of the Council includes senior 
representatives from a variety of disciplines, including the 
Chief Executive, S151 Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer and 
Directors.

 Business cases proposals are brought to Management Team 
for discussion and challenge.

 Key financial decisions are discussed collectively at 
Management Team and with respective elective members 
through informal briefings and at Cabinet and Full Council.  
The advice of the CFO is taken into account in decision-
making.

 All reports to both Management Team and Committees are 
expected to be shared with Financial Services prior to wider 
consideration so that timely advice on financial considerations 
can be given.  Such reports include a section for 
consideration of Finance & Value for Money implications.

 The Constitution, incorporating the Financial Procedure Rules 
and Contract Procedure Rules set out the framework for 
financial decision-making, arrangement for financial 
management and control, tendering processes and decision 
making for contracts.  Contracts are monitored.

 A robust monthly budget monitoring process is in place, which 
provides regular updates to Management Team in terms of 
compliance with the budget monitoring requirements.  This is 

GREEN
 External Auditors have yet to give their 

opinion on VFM aspects in respect of 
the 2019-20 financial accounts.

P
age 105



FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

supported by quarterly budget monitoring reports to the 
Cabinet and Finance & Audit Committee which are discussed 
and challenged in the public arena.

 The council has effective internal audit and risk management 
functions, with reporting to Senior Management and 
Members.

 The council has in place a Finance & Audit Committee to 
provide robust challenge and scrutiny to the council’s financial 
management and risk and governance processes, or ensure 
best use of public funds.

 External Audit assessment of VFM as part of the financial 
statements which is formally reported to the Finance & Audit 
Committee.

 Arrangements in place to formally consider significant 
partnerships and shared service arrangements.

P
age 106



FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

B. The authority complies 
with the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of 
the Chief Finance Officer 
in Local Government.

 The council has a qualified and experienced S151 officer in 
place as specified in this CIPFA statement.

 The CFO is part of the Management Team to enable advice 
to be given at a strategic level.  Financial proposals are 
considered collectively and then discussed with Elected 
Members as appropriate.  The advice of the CFO is taken into 
account in decision-making.

 The CFO is available to all Members to give advice on 
financial matters relating to the Council.

 The Finance & Audit Committee 

 The review of the council’s Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS) includes a specific statement from the S151 Officer 
confirming the actions that they take in order to comply with 
the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer 
in Local Government

GREEN

P
age 107



FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

O. The leadership team 
monitors the elements of 
its balance sheet that 
pose a significant risk to 
its financial sustainability

 The council has a Treasury Management Strategy in place, 
performance against which is monitored on a regular basis 
through updates to the Finance & Audit Committee, as 
stipulated by reporting requirements in this area.

 Financial monitoring statements are provided to the council’s 
senior management team on a monthly basis along with the 
council’s Management Team and Members on a quarterly 
basis.  The quarterly reports provide a narrative to identify any 
areas of concern.

 MT considers financial information on key areas on a periodic 
basis.

 The Corporate Risk register for the council includes a specific 
risk around the ongoing financial viability and investment risk 
to the council which includes specific activities that are 
undertaken to manage and monitor this risk.

GREEN

P
age 108



FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

ACCOUNTABILITY         Overall Assessment - GREEN
D The authority applies the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering 
Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework 
(2016).

 Internal control framework assessed annually as part of the 
Internal Audit annual opinion which is reported to the Finance 
& Audit Committee.  This also forms part of the council’s 
overall assessment of Governance and is published alongside 
the Annual Governance Statement.  An action plan is 
produced to respond to any weaknesses in or opportunities to 
further enhance control arrangements.

 A robust framework is in place through the Annual 
Governance Statement which assesses the council’s approach 
to governance against the CIPFA standards on an annual 
basis.

 Statutory Monitoring Officer in place supported by the 
committee framework.  

 Committees are supported by the democratic services team 
who provide administrative and secretariat support.

GREEN

P The Chief Finance Officer 
has personal and statutory 
responsibility for ensuring 
that the statement of 
accounts produced by the 
local authority complies 
with the reporting 
requirements of the Code.

 The Director (Corporate Services) and Finance Team have a 
good working relationship with External Audit and have an 
open dialogue to ensure that material matters that could affect 
the presentation of the statements of account are shared at 
the earliest opportunity.

 The Council has a project timetable in place to ensure that key 
tasks are identified to ensure the delivery of the draft 
statements of account on a timely basis.

 The Council produces a succinct and informative Narrative 
Report intended to effectively communicate the authority’s 
activities and achievements, its financial position and 
performance, to its stakeholders.

GREEN

P
age 109



 The Statement of Accounts for the council includes an 
introduction from the Chief Finance Officer stating compliance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting.

 Externally audited annual financial statements are made 
available publicly on the council’s website.

 The council keeps its budget position under constant review 
and has demonstrated that it is willing to review and amend its 
budget as necessary to ensure financial viability.

Q  The presentation of the 
final outturn figures and 
variations from budget 
allows the leadership team 
to make strategic financial 
decisions.

 Quarterly outturn reports are presented to the council’s 
Management Team, Cabinet and the Finance and Audit 
Committee enabling strategic financial decisions to be made 
throughout the year.

 Financial viability assessments and financial modelling are 
used to inform strategic financial decisions.

 The budget setting papers that are presented to Cabinet and 
Full Council provide a clear update against the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy setting out the financial position of the 
council, and provides details of variations as necessary to 
enable robust strategic financial decision making.

GREEN
 External Audit Sign off of the financial 

statements is outstanding P
age 110



FM Code Heading/ 
Reference:

How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

TRANSPARENCY         Overall Assessment - GREEN
L. The authority has 
engaged where 
appropriate with key 
stakeholders in developing 
its long-term financial 
strategy, medium-term 
financial plan and annual 
budget

 Stakeholder engagement informed the development of the 
current Corporate Plan to ensure clear priority is given to those 
services that the Council are statutorily required to do or are of 
most value to those with a key interest in the borough. 

 Stakeholder engagement is also considered in key projects or 
initiatives pursued by the Council.

 The financial strategy of the Council is discussed and shaped 
by the Management Team, Leader of the Executive and other 
key Members.

 Engagement with Members through the budget setting and 
monitoring process takes place; all papers are provided in the 
public arena and proposed budgets are discussed with all 
Members in more detail at specific political group meetings to 
enable robust challenge.

 Directors, Assistant Directors and Service managers are 
consulted during the budget process with findings presented to 
Management Team.

 The draft financial statements are open to challenge by 
Members as well as the general public.

 The Medium Term Financial Plan is regularly presented to 
Members and Management Team for review and discussion.

GREEN

P
age 111



 Business cases and project initiation documents are considered 
by Management Team, and Members where required, for 
projects, especially those requiring a financial contribution. 

M. The authority uses an 
appropriate documented 
option appraisal 
methodology to 
demonstrate the value for 
money of its decisions.

 The council does not have a ‘one size fits all’ approach for 
assessing and demonstrating value for money in the decisions 
that it makes.  There are a number of processes in place:
- For potential shared service arrangements, a dedicated 

business case template is in place which enables 
responsible officers with the opportunity to outline any/all 
options that have been considered and specifically includes 
an assessment of the value for money of each option in 
order to aide robust and well informed decision-making.

- Investment and regeneration opportunities reports all follow 
a similar format; consideration of all legal, property and 
financial aspects.  The financial aspects focus on ensuring 
that the project being presented for decision provides value 
for money.

- Other project and business case documents all include 
specific sections relating to the financial viability of the 
project, including how the projects will be funded to ensure 
that the decision-makers are able to determine if the project 
will offer value for money to the organisation.

 In addition to the assessment of value for money is all council 
projects and significant developments, all reports to committees 
and the council’s Management Team have a specific 
Implications’ appendix which includes a section on Finance and 
Value for Money so that all council decisions can be made with 
account of the financial and value for money implications it may 
have on the authority.

GREEN – (UPDATED FORMALLY 
AMBER)

P
age 112



FM Code Heading/ Reference: How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

STANDARDS                                 Overall Assessment - GREEN

H The authority complies with the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities

 The council has a Capital Strategy in place, which is 
reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose 
and in line with other key strategic documents of the 
council and is published on the council’s website. The 
Strategy covers capital expenditure, treasury 
management investments, as well as commercial 
activity and property investment decisions.

 The council has an Investment Strategy in place which 
is reviewed annually as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy, publicly available on the 
council’s website.  Updates on Treasury Management 
activity are provided to the Finance & Audit Committee 
in line with the requirements of the Prudential Code.
The council has in place a Medium-term Financial Plan 
to ensure the long-term financial strategies are 
translated into plans to aid budget setting.  This is 
reviewed as part of the budget setting process, with 
operational business plans developed in January-March 
for the coming financial year to ensure they are aligned.

GREEN

J The authority complies with its 
statutory obligations in respect of 
the budget setting process

 The Financial Services Team has a budget work 
programme in place which takes account of dates set 
out in statute and draws on interactions with key 
stakeholders, including budget holders and senior 
management.  This programme includes reporting of 

GREEN

P
age 113



significant budget items to Management Team for 
discussion and consideration, as well as budget 
discussions with the Leader of the Executive.  This 
ensures ownership of the budget by the whole 
leadership team.

 The council conducts an annual review of working 
balances and reserves to assess its financial 
sustainability as required by Section 25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003. This is presented as part of the 
budget setting reports to Cabinet and Full Council.

K. The budget report includes a 
statement by the chief finance 
officer on the robustness of the 
estimates and a statement on the 
adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves

 This statement is included as part of the budget process 
which includes details of earmarked reserves

 Key stakeholders of reserves are consulted as part of 
the budget process which helps ensure adequacy and 
relevance.

 Levels of working balances and general reserves have 
been agreed with members.

 The budget setting report contains the statement 
required under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 
2003 on the robustness of the estimates and a 
statement on the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves.

GREEN

P
age 114



FM Code Heading/ Reference: How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

ASSURANCE                                          Overall Assessment - GREEN
C. The leadership team 

demonstrates in its actions 
and behaviours responsibility 
for governance and internal 
control

 The Council has an adopted Code of Corporate 
Governance which sets out how it will carry out its 
functions, and the procedures and processes in place to 
deliver its corporate objectives. This is reviewed 
periodically to confirm it remains fit for purpose.

 A robust framework is in place through the Annual 
Governance Statement to assess the Council’s 
approach to governance against on an annual basis and 
identify any areas for improvement.

 Internal controls are implemented and monitored by 
management and reviewed by internal audits.  
Managers are required to complete annual assurance 
returns to confirm that control arrangements are 
operating effectively within their areas of responsibility.

 Monitoring Officer is in place to ensure and advise on 
compliance with legal and governance arrangements for 
the authority.  The Deputy Monitoring Officer also 
attends all management Team meetings to provide a 
legal overview.

 All formal reports to Management Team and Members 
include a standard appendix which requires 
consideration to be given to the implications of the report 
and any associated decisions required.

Budget monitoring reports provided to Directors for all areas 
of their controls. 

GREEN

P
age 115



F. The authority has carried out a 
credible and transparent financial 
resilience assessment

 The council conducts an annual review of working 
balances and reserves to assess its financial 
sustainability as required by Section 25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  As part of this review, the 
council will assess its historic and planned use of 
reserves and working balances and use data sources 
such as the CIPFA Financial Resilience Index to 
benchmark itself against others, albeit this is only an 
indicator of sustainability.

 The council has a robust Medium Term Financial 
Strategy in place, which is published on the website, 
covering both the General Fund and HRA.  Due to the 
uncertainty in future funding for Local Government, the 
council has put in place one-year, interim plans over the 
last two years.  
External Audit conduct an annual audit of the council’s 
accounts and overall financial standing which, to date, 
have not raised any concerns regarding resilience.

GREEN

N. The leadership team takes 
action using reports enabling it to 
identify and correct emerging 
risks to its budget strategy and 
financial sustainability.

 The Council has mechanisms in place to capture 
changes in government policy direction/new legislation, 
including monthly legislative updates, attendance at 
professional groups and bodies etc.

 MT considers financial and other management 
information on key areas on a periodic basis to identify 
changes in risks.

 Weekly Management Team meetings will identify and 
consider emerging risks and put in place action to 
understand, manage and/or mitigate such risks as 
appropriate.

GREEN – (UPDATED FORMALLY 
AMBER)
A quarterly risk management working 
group has been established. The first of 
meeting of this group will be held in 
November 2021

P
age 116



 Regular budget monitoring reports are provided to the 
leadership team of the council (officer and Member) to 
enable identification of any emerging budget risks.

 Risk registers are developed for individual service areas 
and are reviewed and updated periodically where 
necessary.

 Corporate risks are monitored and reviewed each year 
with a mid-year review completed and reported to the 
Finance & Audit Committee.

 Budget strategy is monitored by Finance Team and 
Management Team.

P
age 117



FM Code Heading/ Reference: How Gravesham Complies Areas for improvement/RAG Rating

SUSTAINABILITY                                          Overall Assessment - GREEN
E. The financial management 

style of the authority 
supports financial 
sustainability

 The council has a number of mechanisms in place to 
enable thorough management of financial and budgetary 
information:
- Decisions with financial elements being presented to 

MT before being progressed further.
- Monthly budget monitoring
- Financial statements made available to key staff
- Budget setting process
- Finance Performance Indicators are monitored
These arrangements place accountability with budget 
holders, Service Managers, Assistant Directors and 
Directors to manage the financial resources associated 
with their areas of responsibility within the framework of 
the Financial Procedure Rules and the Constitution.

 The Finance function is viewed as an approachable and 
key support service of the Council and are engaged in 
key corporate projects and work streams, as well as 
providing advice and guidance to individual 
departments.

The authority thinks innovatively and this is embedded in the 
Corporate Plan.  It has a history of addressing financial 
issues head on, particularly with the Bridging the Gap’ 
Strategy that has been in place for a number of years to 
address the challenging financial times facing the council.

GREEN

P
age 118



G. The authority understands 
its prospects for financial 
sustainability in the longer 
term and has reported this 
clearly to Members

 The council has in place a number of key documents 
and strategies which have been presented to Council, 
Cabinet and/or Finance & Audit Committee:
- MTFP in place
- Capital Strategy in place 
- Investment Strategy in place

 Financial sustainability is considered annually as part of 
the budget setting process in which all Members are 
involved, with quarterly, in year updates provided to 
Cabinet and the Finance & Audit Committee through 
budget monitoring reports and other specific reports are 
required.
The council has a robust Medium Term Financial 
Strategy in place, which is published on the website, 
covering both the General Fund and HRA.  Due to the 
uncertainty in future funding for Local Government, the 
council has put in place one-year, interim plans over the 
last two years.  

GREEN

I. The authority has a rolling 
multi-year medium-term 
financial plan consistent 
with sustainable service 
plans

 The Council has in place a multi-year financial plan 
covering, at a high level, performance against the 
approved budget for the current year plus projections 
covering a further nine years.  This is a ‘live’ document 
that is updated on an ongoing basis to reflect decisions 
taken by the council or issues identified through budget 
monitoring to ensure this continues to support service 
delivery.  

 The MTFP is formally considered by MT and Members 
on a quarterly basis and at budget setting.

GREEN

P
age 119



 The MTFP is used to model and understand the impacts 
of government policy and significant decisions to be 
taken by the Council.

P
age 120



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

     Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date:

Report of:

10th November 2021

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Appointment of External Auditors - National Scheme for Auditor 
Appointments from April 2023

Purpose and summary of report:
To inform members of the options available for the appointment of local auditors appointments 
and to notify members of the invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments 
from April 2023.

Recommendations:

The Finance & Audit Committee is asked to: 

 consider the procurement options set out in the report and the invitation to opt into the 
national scheme for local auditor appointments.

 endorse a recommendation being made to Full Council on 7th December 2021 to accept 
the invitation to opt in to the national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023.

1. Background

1.1. In July 2016, the Secretary of State specified Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) 
as an appointing person for local government and police audits from 2018/19, under the 
provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. This resulted in 98% of eligible bodies opting in 
to the scheme for a five year period.

1.2. At the Full Council Meeting of 6th December 2016 the Council accepted the invitation to 
opt in to the appointing person arrangements by PSAA. These arrangements will come 
to an end on 31st March 2023 and therefore a decision needs to be taken as to how we 
will appoint external auditors from April 2023.

1.3. On 22nd September, Gravesham Borough Council was formally invited by PSAA to opt 
into the national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023. If the decision is 
taken to opt in to this arrangement, this will be for a period of five years and will need 
approval by Full Council.

Page 121 Agenda Item 11



2

1.4. Should we decide to opt into the national scheme, we will need to formally accept this 
invitation by 11 March 2022. The formal invitation letter is shown at Appendix Two of this 
report.

2. Current External Audit Arrangements

2.1  The Council’s external auditor is currently Grant Thornton LLP, with this appointment 
made by PSAA. This arrangement is to come to an end in March 2023.

2.2 In June 2021 the PSAA invited views and comments from local authorities on current 
arrangements which have been considered and incorporated these into their updated 
scheme prospectus and procurement strategy. Links to these documents are found 
in the Background Papers section of this report.

3. Options for local auditor appointments

3.1 There are currently four options available to choose from regarding this procurement.            
These are:

 Procure external audit provision ourselves

 Set up a joint panel with another local authority (ies)

 Opt in to a sector led body

 Accept the invitation to opt into the scheme of local audit appointments

Details of these options are set out in the paragraphs below:

Option 1 – procure external audit provision as a stand-alone appointment

In order to make a stand-alone appointment the Council will need to set up an Auditor 
Panel. The members of the panel must be wholly or a majority independent members as 
defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees; 
this excludes current and former elected members (or officers) and their close family 
and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority input into 
assessing bids and choosing which firm of accountants to award a contract for the 
Council’s external audit. The Auditor Panel will be responsible for selecting the auditor.

Advantages/benefit

Setting up an auditor panel allows the Council to take maximum advantage of the local 
appointment regime and have local input to the decision.

Disadvantages/risks

Recruitment and servicing of the Auditor Panel, running the bidding exercise and 
negotiating the contract will incur costs plus on going expenses and allowances.

The Council will not be able to take advantage of reduced fees that may be available 
through joint or national procurement contracts.

The assessment of bids and decision on awarding contracts will be taken by 
independent appointees and not solely by elected members.

Page 122



3

Option 2 - Set up a Joint Auditor Panel/local joint procurement arrangements

The Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint auditor 
panel. Again this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 
appointees (members). Further legal advice will be required on the exact constitution of 
such a panel having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the 
Council need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an 
arrangement. 

Advantages/benefits

The costs of setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise and negotiating the 
contract will be shared across a number of authorities.

There is greater opportunity for negotiating some economies of scale by being able to 
offer a larger combined contract value to the firms.

Disadvantages/risks

The decision making body will be further removed from local input, with potentially no 
input from elected members (where a wholly independent auditor panel is used) or 
possibly only one elected member representing each Council, depending on the 
constitution agreed with the other bodies involved.

The choice of auditor could be complicated where individual Councils have 
independence issues. An independence issue occurs where the auditor has recently or 
is currently carrying out work such as consultancy or advisory work for the Council. 
Where this occurs some auditors may be prevented from being appointed by the terms 
of their professional standards. There is a risk that if the joint auditor panel choose a firm 
that is conflicted for this Council then the Council may still need to make a separate 
appointment with all the attendant costs and loss of economies possible through joint 
procurement.

Option 3 – Opt-in to a Sector Led Body (SLB) 

A Sector-Led Body would have the ability to negotiate contracts with the firms nationally, 
maximising the opportunities for the most economic and efficient approach to 
procurement of external audit on behalf of the whole sector. 

Advantages/benefits 

The costs of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating fees would be 
shared across all opt-in authorities 

By offering large contract values the firms would be able to offer better rates and lower 
fees than are likely to result from local negotiation.

Any conflicts at individual authorities would be managed by the SLB who would have a 
number of contracted firms to call upon. 

The appointment process would not be overseen by locally appointed independent 
members. Instead a separate body set up to act in the collective interests of the ‘opt-in’ 
authorities. 

Disadvantages/risks 

Page 123



4

Individual elected members will have less opportunity for direct involvement in the 
appointment process other than through the LGA and/or stakeholder representative 
groups. 

In order for the SLB to be viable and to be placed in the strongest possible negotiating 
position the SLB will need Councils to indicate their intention to opt-in before final 
contract prices are known. 

Option 4 - Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments 

As set out above the council has received a formal invitation to opt into the national 
scheme for auditor appointments. The letter and supporting information on the national 
scheme is reproduced at Appendix Two for Member information. Adopting the national 
scheme will see PSAA make the auditor appointment for the council for a period of five 
years from 2023/24.

4. Other Kent Authorities

4.1 From recent discussions with other Kent authorities there is an appetite to accept the 
invitation from PSAA. 

5. Recommendation

We recommend that this committee considers and accepts the invitation received 
from PSAA as set out in option 4. Benefits of doing so are as follows:-

 Avoid the necessity for the council to establish an independent auditor panel and 
to undertake an auditor procurement; 

 Enable the council to share the costs associated with the procurement exercise 
with other local government bodies;

 Enable the council to secure competitive prices from audit firms through 
economies of scale; 

 Appointment of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 
collaboration/joint working initiatives or across regions (for example, across Kent) 
where the parties believe that it will enhance efficiency and value for money; 

 Delivery of an audit service of the required quality for every opted in body and to 
support the drive towards a more long term competitive, sustainable market for 
local public audit services.

 Transparency in the appointment of the auditor appointment.

6. Background Papers

Procurement strategy 2022 – Page 4 – PSAA

Response to consultations on proposals for arrangements from April 2023 – PSAA

Summary-of-the-response-to-PSAA-consultations-on-its-proposed-arrangements-for-
the-appointing-period-starting-April-2023-FINAL.pdf

Page 124

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurement-strategy/procurement-strategy-2022/page/4/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/response-to-consultations-on-proposed-arrangements-for-the-appointing-period-starting-april-2023/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Summary-of-the-response-to-PSAA-consultations-on-its-proposed-arrangements-for-the-appointing-period-starting-April-2023-FINAL.pdf
https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Summary-of-the-response-to-PSAA-consultations-on-its-proposed-arrangements-for-the-appointing-period-starting-April-2023-FINAL.pdf


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) requires a 
relevant authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year 
not later than 31 December in the preceding year. Section 8 governs the procedure 
for appointment including that the authority must consult and take account of the 
advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of a local auditor. 
Section 8 provides that where a relevant authority is a local authority operating 
executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local auditor to audit its 
accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the authority under those 
arrangements. 

Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor: the authority 
must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the authority to 
appoint the auditor named in the direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of the 
authority. 

Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation to 
an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State. This power has been 
exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this 
gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a Sector Led Body to become the 
appointing person. 

Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires 
that a decision to opt in must be made by Full Council (authority meeting as a 
whole).

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The cost of establishing a local or joint Auditor Panel and conducting a procurement 
exercise outlined in the alternative options within the report will need to be 
estimated and included in the Council’s budget for 2022/23. This will include the 
cost of recruiting independent appointees (members), servicing the Panel, running 
a bidding and tender evaluation process, letting a contract and paying member fees 
and allowances. 

Opting-in to the national Sector Led Body will be a less resource-intensive process, 
provides maximum opportunity to limit the extent of any increases by entering in to 
a large scale collective procurement arrangement and would remove the costs of 
establishing an auditor panel.

Risk Assessment There is no immediate risk to the Council, however, early consideration by the 
Council of its preferred approach will enable detailed planning to take place so as to 
achieve successful transition to the new arrangement in a timely and efficient 
manner

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

Page 125

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/


6

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 126

mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Source: Capi

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 

 

 
22 September 2021 

 
To:       Mr Bobby, Chief Executive 
       Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
Copied to: Ms Parfitt, S151 Officer 

                 Councillor Singh, Chair of Audit Committee or equivilent 

 

Dear Mr Bobby, 

Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023 
 

I want to ensure that you are aware the external auditor for the audit of your accounts for 

2023/24 has to be appointed before the end of December 2022. That may seem a long way 

away but, as your organisation has a choice about how to make that appointment, your 

decision-making process needs to begin soon. 

We are pleased that the Secretary of State has confirmed PSAA in the role of the appointing 

person for eligible principal bodies for the period commencing April 2023. Joining PSAA’s 

national scheme for auditor appointments is one of the choices available to your organisation.  

In June 2021 we issued a draft prospectus and invited your views and comments on our early 

thinking on the development of the national scheme for the next period. Feedback from the 

sector has been extremely helpful and has enabled us to refine our proposals which are now 

set out in the scheme prospectus and our procurement strategy. Both documents can be 

downloaded from our website which also contains a range of useful information that you may 

find helpful.  

The national scheme timetable for appointing auditors from 2023/24 means we now need to 

issue a formal invitation to you to opt into these arrangements. In order to meet the 

requirements of the relevant regulations, we also attach a form of acceptance of our invitation 

which you must use if your organisation decides to join the national scheme. We have 

specified the five consecutive financial years beginning 1 April 2023 as the compulsory 

appointing period for the purposes of the regulations which govern the national scheme. 

Given the very challenging local audit market, we believe that eligible bodies will be best 

served by opting to join the scheme and have attached a short summary of why we believe 

that is the best solution both for individual bodies and the sector as a whole. 

I would like to highlight three matters to you: 

1. if you opt to join the national scheme, we need to receive your formal acceptance of this 

invitation by Friday 11 March 2022;  

Page 129

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurement-strategy/


2. the relevant regulations require that, except for a body that is a corporation sole (e.g. a 

police and crime commissioner), the decision to accept our invitation and to opt in must 

be made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole e.g. Full Council or 

equivalent. We appreciate this will need to be built into your decision-making timetable. 

We have deliberately set a generous timescale for bodies to make opt in decisions (24 

weeks compared to the statutory minimum of 8 weeks) to ensure that all eligible bodies 

have sufficient time to comply with this requirement; and 

3. if you decide not to accept the invitation to opt in by the closing date, you may 

subsequently make a request to opt in, but only after 1 April 2023. We are required to 

consider such requests and agree to them unless there are reasonable grounds for their 

refusal. PSAA must consider a request as the appointing person in accordance with the 

Regulations. The Regulations allow us to recover our reasonable costs for making 

arrangements to appoint a local auditor in these circumstances, for example if we need 

to embark on a further procurement or enter into further discussions with our contracted 

firms. 

If you have any other questions not covered by our information, do not hesitate to contact us 

by email at ap2@psaa.co.uk. We also publish answers to frequently asked questions on our 

website. 

If you would like to discuss a particular issue with us, please send an email also to 

ap2@psaa.co.uk, and we will respond to you.  

 

Yours sincerely 

Tony Crawley 

Chief Executive 

 

Encl: Summary of the national scheme 

 

Page 130

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk
https://www.psaa.co.uk/contact-us/frequently-asked-questions/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/contact-us/frequently-asked-questions/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk


 

 

Why accepting the national scheme opt-in invitation is the best solution 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) 

We are a not-for-profit, independent company limited by guarantee incorporated by the Local 

Government Association in August 2014.  

We have the support of the LGA, which in 2014 worked to secure the option for principal local 

government and police bodies to appoint auditors through a dedicated sector-led national 

body.  

We have the support of Government; MHCLG’s Spring statement confirmed our appointment 

because of our “strong technical expertise and the proactive work they have done to help to 

identify improvements that can be made to the process”. 

We are an active member of the new Local Audit Liaison Committee, chaired by MHCLG and 

attended by key local audit stakeholders, enabling us to feed in body and audit perspectives 

to decisions about changes to the local audit framework, and the need to address timeliness 

through actions across the system. 

We conduct research to raise awareness of local audit issues, and work with MHCLG and 

other stakeholders to enable changes arising from Sir Tony Redmond’s review, such as more 

flexible fee setting and a timelier basis to set scale fees.  

We have established an advisory panel, which meets three times per year. Its membership is 

drawn from relevant representative groups of local government and police bodies, to act as a 

sounding board for our scheme and to enable us to hear your views on the design and 

operation of the scheme.  

The national scheme for appointing local auditors 

In July 2016, the Secretary of State specified PSAA as an appointing person for principal local 

government and police bodies for audits from 2018/19, under the provisions of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. Acting 

in accordance with this role PSAA is responsible for appointing an auditor and setting scales 

of fees for relevant principal authorities that have chosen to opt into its national scheme. 98% 

of eligible bodies made the choice to opt-in for the five-year period commencing in April 2018. 

We will appoint an auditor for all opted-in bodies for each of the five financial years beginning 

from 1 April 2023.  

We aim for all opted-in bodies to receive an audit service of the required quality at a realistic 

market price and to support the drive towards a long term competitive and more sustainable 

market for local audit. The focus of our quality assessment will include resourcing capacity 

and capability including sector knowledge, and client relationship management and 

communication. 

What the appointing person scheme from 2023 will offer 

We believe that a sector-led, collaborative, national scheme stands out as the best option for 

all eligible bodies, offering the best value for money and assuring the independence of the 

auditor appointment.  

Page 131



 

 

The national scheme from 2023 will build on the range of benefits already available for 

members: 

• transparent and independent auditor appointment via a third party; 

• the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered auditor;  

• appointment, if possible, of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 

collaboration/joint working initiatives, if the parties believe that it will enhance efficiency;  

• on-going management of any independence issues which may arise; 

• access to a specialist PSAA team with significant experience of working within the context 

of the relevant regulations to appoint auditors, managing contracts with audit firms, and 

setting and determining audit fees;   

• a value for money offer based on minimising PSAA costs and distribution of any surpluses 

to scheme members - in 2019 we returned a total £3.5million to relevant bodies and more 

recently we announced a further distribution of £5.6m in August 2021; 

• collective efficiency savings for the sector through undertaking one major procurement as 

opposed to a multiplicity of smaller procurements;  

• avoids the necessity for local bodies to establish an auditor panel and undertake an auditor 

procurement, enabling time and resources to be deployed on other pressing priorities;  

• updates from PSAA to Section 151 officers and Audit Committee Chairs on a range of 

local audit related matters to inform and support effective auditor-audited body 

relationships; and 

• concerted efforts to work with other stakeholders to develop a more sustainable local audit 

market. 

We are committed to keep developing our scheme, taking into account feedback from scheme 

members, suppliers and other stakeholders, and learning from the collective post-2018 

experience. This work is ongoing, and we have taken a number of initiatives to improve the 

operation of the scheme for the benefit of all parties.  

Importantly we have listened to your feedback to our recent consultation, and our response is 

reflected in the scheme prospectus. 

 

Opting in 

The closing date for opting in is 11 March 2022. We have allowed more than the minimum 

eight-week notice period required, because the formal approval process for most eligible 

bodies is a decision made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole [Full Council 

or equivalent], except police and crime commissioners who are able to make their own 

decision.  

We will confirm receipt of all opt-in notices. A full list of eligible bodies that opt in will be 

published on our website. Once we have received an opt-in notice, we will write to you to 

request information on any joint working arrangements relevant to your auditor appointment, 

and any potential independence matters which may need to be taken into consideration when 

appointing your auditor. 

Page 132

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/


 

 

Local Government Reorganisation 

We are aware that reorganisations in the local government areas of Cumbria, Somerset, and 

North Yorkshire were announced in July 2021. Subject to parliamentary approval shadow 

elections will take place in May 2022 for the new Councils to become established from 1 April 

2023. Newly established local government bodies have the right to opt into PSAA’s scheme 

under Regulation 10 of the Appointing Person Regulations 2015. These Regulations also set 

out that a local government body that ceases to exist is automatically removed from the 

scheme. 

If for any reason there is any uncertainty that reorganisations will take place or meet the 

current timetable, we would suggest that the current eligible bodies confirm their acceptance 

to opt in to avoid the requirement to have to make local arrangements should the 

reorganisation be delayed. 

Next Steps 

We expect to formally commence the procurement of audit services in early February 2022. 

At that time our procurement documentation will be available for opted-in bodies to view 

through our e-tendering platform. 

Our recent webinars to support our consultation proved to be popular, and we will be running 

a series of webinars covering specific areas of our work and our progress to prepare for the 

second appointing period. Details can be found on our website and in the scheme prospectus.

 

Page 133

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/autumn-and-winter-webinars/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 10 November 2021

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 August to 30 September 2021

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the amendments to the agreed workplan as detailed in section 7 of 

appendix 2.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility, and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the second of three updates to be produced during 
2021-22; detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
between 01 August and 30 September 2021 and the progress made against the 
annual workplan. 

2.2 Section seven of the update report contains details of proposed amendments to 
the agreed plan, which are submitted for Member’s approval. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 135 Agenda Item 12



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service; Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards..

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 136

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


3

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website. 
The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 18

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 August – 30 September 2021

Page 139



Page 2 of 18

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility, and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 This report covers a short period of only two months, however, the following audit reviews have been 

finalised;

 Garden Waste Collection – Opinion: Green 

In addition, four reviews have reached the draft report stage, three have had fieldwork completed and 
are now going through the quality control process, a further review is currently underway and 
commencement of a number of others is being arranged with clients. As a consequence of this work, 
plan delivery as at 30 September was 33% complete, with a further 4% underway. Full details of the 
individual reviews can be found in section 5 of this report.

2.2 Follow up of agreed recommendations has continued and performance as of 30 September stood at 
64%, with 21 of 33 recommendations due in the period having been implemented. 12 remain 
outstanding and are being monitored in line with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the 
progress made in relation to recommendation follow up can be found at section 8.

2.3 In respect of recommendations arising from audits with Red opinions that have been reported to the 
Committee, all five recommendations relating to the review of IT Asset Management have now been 
implemented. No recommendations were due before 30 September in respect of the review of Private 
Housing Enforcement.

2.4 Investigations concluded during the period have identified cashable savings of £26,074 in the form of 
additional council tax liabilities, both historic and future and new business rate liabilities. The recovery 
of a council property also represents a notional saving of £93,000.

2.5 There has been continued impact on planned resources due to sickness, and vacancies with posts to be 
advertised in the coming weeks. We are currently projecting a loss of approximately 78 days (40 audit 
days and 38 counter fraud days) from the projected 603 available at the start of the year. As a 
consequence, revisions to the plan are required and it is proposed that the reviews of Project 
Management – M365 and Housing Rent Administration and Collection are removed.

3. Independence
3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2020 

and sets out the purpose, authority, and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The 

Page 140



Page 3 of 18

work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.

3.2 Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. The most recent of these reviews was undertaken by Tonbridge & Malling 
Borough Council in 2018-19.

4. Resources
4.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 officers, consisting of; the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, two Internal Audit Team Leaders (one post currently vacant), 
six Internal Auditors (5.78FTE), one Counter Fraud Team Leader, two Counter Fraud Officers, and two 
Counter Fraud Intelligence Analysts (1.86FTE).

4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2021-22 were prepared, was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,815 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 654 days for audit & counter fraud work. 

4.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 August to 30 September 2021 amounted to 100 
days and 84 days (84%) were spent on chargeable audit and counter fraud work.  Of this chargeable 
time, 48 days (57%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 36 days (43%) was spent 
on counter fraud and investigations work. In addition, 5 days were spent on SPOC related duties. The 
current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report.

4.4 There has been continued impact on planned resources due to sickness, and as mentioned in the 
previous update, the resignation of an Internal Audit Team Leader with effect from 30 June 2021. A 
Counter Fraud Officer will also be leaving with effect from 01 October, which creates a further vacancy 
to be filled. Both posts will be advertised for recruitment and based on anticipated start dates for those 
posts we are currently projecting a loss of approximately 78 days (40 audit days and 38 counter fraud 
days) from the projected 603 available at the start of the year.

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work
5.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2021-22 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2021. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations, and consultancy services. 

5.2 The tables below provide details of the work from 2020-21 that has been finalised in 2021-22 (excluding 
those detailed in the annual report for 2020-21), the progress of work undertaken as part of the 2021-
22 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed during the period.  

Page 141



Page 4 of 18

2020-21 Internal Audit assurance work completed in 2021-22 (since the last Audit Committee meeting)

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

6 Cyber security 15 14.8 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

14 Corporate debt recovery 15 18.6 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

19 Traded services - 
Rosherville Ltd

15 22 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

2021-22 Internal Audit assurance work

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Governance framework 8 Fieldwork 

complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - An effective Governance Framework is in place.

2 Constitution 
maintenance

12 Draft report with 
client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to maintain Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Constitution.

3 Risk management 
compliance

10 Draft report with 
client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage operational risks.

4 Performance 
management 
framework & reporting

15 Deferred to 2022-
23

Deferral agreed at the September 2021 Finance & Audit Committee meeting

5 Bank reconciliation 10 Not yet started
6 Project management - 

M365
15 Not yet started

7 Income collection 15 Not yet started
8 Housing benefit & CTR 

appeals
15 Fieldwork 

complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to appropriately process HB and CTR appeals.

P
age 142



Page 5 of 18

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

9 Council Tax discounts, 
disregards & exemptions

10 Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to appropriately administer Council Tax 
discounts, disregards, and exemptions.

10 Housing rent 
administration and 
collection

15 Not yet started

11 VAT 10 Draft report with 
client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to manage the council’s VAT matters.

12 Financial planning 10 Not yet started

Corporate risks assurance work
13 Planning applications 

(inc validations and 
decisions)

15 Not yet started

14 Business continuity 
planning

15 Not yet started

15 Garden waste collection 
service 

10 9.9 Final report Issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage the council’s garden waste 
collection service.
The review found that the council’s garden waste collection service is appropriately 
advertised, and the fees and charges are reviewed annually. Customers can 
arrange sign up to the garden waste bin collection service online or via customer 
services; eligibility is established, and payment is taken at the point of application. 
There are appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the information entered at 
the time of application is correctly transposed onto the Collective waste 
management system. Arrangements are also in place to deliver bins, ensure new 
customers are correctly added to the collection schedules and to advise customers 
of their collection dates. Audit testing confirmed these arrangements to be working 
in practice. 
Procedures are in place to facilitate renewal of subscriptions and renewal 
reminders are sent. Customers that have cancelled the service or do not renew are 
appropriately removed from collection schedules and arrangements made to 
collect their bin. However, at the time of audit there were 869 subscriptions that 
had not been renewed and the garden waste bin had not been returned.

P
age 143



Page 6 of 18

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Arrangements exist for customers to purchase garden waste sacks and there are 
arrangements in place to collect payment and to manage control stock.
Take-up of the garden waste collection service is monitored via a management 
indicator; income received is monitored through the council’s budget monitoring 
procedures and there are also regular reports to the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One low priority.
Recommendation relates to arrangements being made for a review of the 
procedures to collect garden waste bins from customers where necessary.

16 Temporary 
accommodation

15 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - The provision of temporary accommodation (TA) outside of the area is 
appropriately managed.

17 Leaseholder 
management

10 Draft report with 
client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements are in place for the administration of 
leaseholder service charges.

18 Housing allocations 15 Not yet started
19 HRA building compliance 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
20 Council housing disabled 

adaptations
15 Not yet started

21 GDPR 15 Not yet started
22 Corporate complaints 15 Not yet started
23 Refuse collection 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
24 Accessibility Regulations 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
25 Finalisation of 2020-21 

planned work 
20 19.9 Complete All reviews from 2020-21 have been finalised and outcomes reported to the 

Committee.
26 Responsive assurance 

work 
13 N/A Underway Please refer to the table below for information relating to responsive assurance 

activity.

P
age 144



Page 7 of 18

Responsive assurance activity

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Government Grant Validation Independent validation to confirm that Government Grant funding had been spent in 
accordance with the set conditions.

Other consultancy services including advice & information

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Nothing to report

Counter Fraud activity

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

32 Counter fraud proactive 
work (inc external data 
matching such as NFI & 
KIN)

42 N/A Not yet started All matches from the 2019-20 NFI Exercise have been dealt with. Final results 
from the exercise were the removal of 86 single person discounts (8 replaced 
with an alternative discount), creating additional council tax liabilities of £87,513 
and additional liability of £38,837 in future years.
Work continues with the 2020-21 NFI Exercise, and support has been sought from 
other services. Results to date are HB overpayments of £2,040, a reduction in HB 
awards of £30.07pw (£1,564pa), additional council tax liability of £13,748 and 
liability in future years of £9,174.

33 Fraud awareness 5 N/A Not yet started

Responsive investigation work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

Business Rates 
(NNDR)

0 3 Two cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud. One case concluded with the creation 
of a new NNDR liability.

£583 (New 
Liability)

N/A N/A

P
age 145



Page 8 of 18

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

Business Support 
Grants

1 4 Four cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

N/A N/A N/A

Council Tax 10 42 26 cases were concluded with no evidence 
of fraud. 16 cases concluded with the 
removal of the council tax 
discount/exemption or reduction, Four of 
which resulted in the issue of civil penalties.

£16,747 (Historic 
Liability) 
£8,393 (Additional 
liability for future 
years)
Civil Penalties 
£280

N/A N/A

Housing Allocations 1 0 Nothing to report. N/A N/A N/A
Tenancy 1 3 One case concluded with no evidence of 

fraud.  One closed with the removal of 
council tax single person discount and issue 
of a civil penalty, and one closed with the 
successful recovery of the property.

£1,033 (Historic 
Liability) 
£322 (Additional 
liability for future 
years)
Civil Penalty £70

£93,000 N/A

Responsive investigation work: internal investigations

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

Nothing to report.

P
age 146



Page 9 of 18

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service’s QAIP was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2019. 

6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer. The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for 
the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 
indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present 
are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 
Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost £599,944 (Budgeted Costs)

PM1

b) LA Share

N/A

£209,667
PM2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £333

Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification 21%

PM3

b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

50%
PM4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 

professional qualification training  
25% 14%

PM5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 13 Days

PM6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other local 
authorities as per benchmarking; 
however, it did not provide a 
percentage of compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work required 
to address the remaining 2%. 
We are working to address the areas 
that require improvement.

PM7 Staff turnover N/A 0%
LA Specific Performance Measurements 
PM8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £4,374

Page 147



Page 10 of 18

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

PM9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work 

N/A 84%

Proportion of chargeable time spent on:
a) assurance work 57%

PM10

b) consultancy work

N/A

0%
Proportion of chargeable time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 10%

PM11

b) reactive counter fraud work

N/A

33%
PM12 Proportion of chargeable time spent on 

SPOC associated duties
N/A 5 days

Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:
a) Delivered 35%

PM13

b) Underway

95%

4%
PM14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 

a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0

PM15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

Number of recommendations agreed that 
are:
a) not yet due 20
b) Implemented 21

PM16

c) Outstanding

N/A

12
PM17 Proportion of recommended actions 

implemented by agreed date
N/A 64%

PM18 Number of referrals received N/A 65
PM19 Number of investigations closed N/A 66

Value of fraud losses identified: 

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered) £26,074

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£93,000

PM20

c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated 
with blocked applications)

N/A

£0

PM21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% No completed surveys received 
during reporting period.

PM22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% A wider satisfaction survey was last 
completed in March 2019 and was 
positive. Due to the Covid 19 
pandemic, it was not possible to 
conduct a review during 2020-21. 
We hope to issue a new survey later 
in 2021-22.

PM23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role

Positive The Chair of the Audit Committee 
was invited to contribute to the 
HIACF’s mid-year performance 
review.

PM24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 
At the time of writing this report, no 
concerns had been raised with the 

Page 148



Page 11 of 18

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

Head of Internal Audit and Counter 
Fraud by Grant Thornton.

7. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

7.2 As detailed in paragraph 4.4, we are currently projecting a loss of approximately 40 days from expected 
audit resources. It is proposed that the following reviews are removed from the plan to account for 
some of this lost resource and allow some flexibility to respond to new emerging risks;

7.3 Project Management – M365 (15 days) – the roll out of Microsoft 365 was completed well ahead of 
schedule and the Corporate Change Team are already preparing to conduct a post implementation 
review, so an audit of controls will no longer add any value.

7.4 Housing Rent Administration and Collection (15 days) – This review was included to address potential 
risks associated with the roll out of a new housing computer system as it was likely to result in a number 
of new processes. However, as the new system has been delayed, there is a limited risk associated with 
this area, which was reviewed in 2019-20. 

8. Follow up of agreed recommendations
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk. 

8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all 
recommendations due on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action 
has been taken in respect of all High priority recommendations, which is verified by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team.  

8.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 
second details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation 
date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director. 

Page 149



Page 12 of 18

Status of agreed recommendations

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four recommendations agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the Homelessness 
Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of the Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy delivery plan, the creation of 
procedure notes to support the new requirements of the act, and looking at prevention 
measures and longer term accommodation options, in order to make better use of the 
temporary accommodation budget, and help prevent homelessness.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.
Revised implementation date agreed for one 
high priority recommendation relating to 
looking at prevention measures and longer-
term accommodation options.

Use of Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all 
relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable debtors being 
reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, 
and appropriate agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any meetings held.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
Revised implementation date agreed for one 
high priority recommendation relating to 
appropriate agreements being put in place 
for all enforcement services, including 
expected performance arrangements then 
being put in place for performance to be 
monitored in line with the agreement, 
including documenting any meetings held.

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements

Opinion: Amber.
Two high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with requirement of 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan being updated and reviewed 
in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented.

Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & Overtime

Opinion: Amber.
Four high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document and circulating 
this to staff, reminding line managers of their role in checking time recording sheets on a 
regular basis to ensure there are no contraventions to the guidance, the creation of a local 
policy on overtime based around the guidance in the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded of this guidance.

Four recommendations due, none 
implemented. 
Four high priority outstanding relating to 
creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance 
document and circulating this to staff, 
reminding line managers of their role in 
checking time recording sheets on a regular 
basis to ensure there are no contraventions 

P
age 150



Page 13 of 18

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

to the guidance, the creation of a local policy 
on overtime based around the guidance in 
the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded 
of this guidance.

Apprenticeship 
Scheme

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives of 
the council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a process being put in 
place to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and 
arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
Revised implementation dates agreed for 
one high and two medium priority 
recommendations relating to a strategy 
being produced to document the aims and 
objectives of the council’s apprenticeship 
scheme and how these will be achieved; a 
process being put in place to ensure that 
apprenticeships are promoted and 
considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; and, the Apprenticeship Policy 
being reviewed and updated.

Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

Opinion: Amber.
Six recommendations agreed: Four high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and updating the procedures linked to the lone working 
policy, officers being reminded of the need to include sufficient details of diarised visits, 
managers being reminded of their responsibilities for contacting officers working away from 
the office, records of visits being maintained after the event to enable validation of timesheets 
and mileage claims, a reminder for staff undertaking lone working duties to perform security 
checks prior to visits, including checking the unacceptable behaviour register as appropriate, 
and managers undertaking regular quality control checks of visits.

Six recommendations due, none 
implemented
Four high and two medium priority 
outstanding relating to reviewing and 
updating the procedures linked to the lone 
working policy, officers being reminded of 
the need to include sufficient details of 
diarised visits, managers being reminded of 
their responsibilities for contacting officers 
working away from the office, records of 
visits being maintained after the event to 
enable validation of timesheets and mileage 
claims, a reminder for staff undertaking lone 
working duties to perform security checks 
prior to visits, including checking the 
unacceptable behaviour register as 

P
age 151



Page 14 of 18

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

appropriate, and managers undertaking 
regular quality control checks of visits.

Member Standards Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: Two medium and one pow priority.
Recommendations relate to the Member training requirements included in the Constitution 
being reviewed for consistency, arrangements being put in place to maintain a central log of 
attendance at Planning & Licensing training, including 1-1 sessions, to ensure ‘refresher’ 
training is provided to Committee Members at the appropriate frequency, and the point of 
contact for declaring gifts and hospitality being clarified and the Member Gifts and Hospitality 
register being retained in accordance with the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct.  

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Staff 
Leave Booking

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: One high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to guidance being updated to include descriptions of all various types 
of leave; detailing those which are deducted from leave entitlement and those which are not, 
deadlines, deadlines being included with annual instruction to book bank holidays and ex-gratia 
day, and managers at all levels ensuring bank holidays for staff and themselves are booked.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Shared Services Opinion: Amber. 
One high priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to a review of all Shared Service Agreements.

No recommendations due prior to 30 
September 2021

IT Asset 
Management

Opinion: Red.
Five high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to arrangements being made for the IT Asset Register to be reviewed 
for accuracy and completeness; regular independent reviews of the IT Asset Register being 
carried out, including physical checks of IT assets to ensure they are still held by the intended 
users; ensuring there is a robust process for identifying staff leavers; ensuring IT assets are 
recovered when staff leave the council and that the IT Asset Register is promptly updated; an 
accurate record being prepared of all unallocated IT assets and regular reconciliations taking 
place to ensure this record is accurate and up to date, with all discrepancies investigated and 
reported as appropriate; and, all sales/disposals of IT assets being undertaken in accordance 
with the ICT Disposals Policy

Five recommendations due, five 
implemented.

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Red.
Five high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to private Housing procedures being written  and tailored to ensure 
they reflect local priorities; the team investigating digitalisation of Private Housing enforcement 

One recommendation due, one 
implemented.

P
age 152



Page 15 of 18

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

processes, including making best use of the systems available and moving away from paper 
files, as well as well as reviewing arrangements to ensure the Public HMO Register is accurate; 
arrangements being put in place to facilitate the timely renewal of HMO licences and for 
enforcement action to be taken where this is not the case; arrangements being put in place to 
ensure the council is able to take robust private housing enforcement action; the necessary 
work to facilitate the introduction of Civil Penalties being progressed; and, the service exploring 
alternative means to hold the landlord forums and otherwise engage with landlords

Cyber Security Opinion: Amber. 
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes brought about 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements for access and monitoring staff 
completion of training /policies. 

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
enhancements to arrangements for 
accessing policies.

Corporate Debt 
Recovery

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the debt data matching process and the tools involved, 
including an assessment on the number of potential corporate debt cases and the resource 
required to manage these cases; the process to be followed should corporate debt fail to 
engage with customers and/or payments are stopped being documented; and, reviewing the 
process for updating customer records on relevant systems following corporate debt action to 
ensure all officers have up to date information on the status of corporate debt cases.  

Two recommendations due, one 
implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to a 
review of the debt data matching process 
and the tools involved, including an 
assessment on the number of potential 
corporate debt cases and the resource 
required to manage these cases.

Traded Services – 
Rosherville Ltd

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including the Non-
Executive Directors, training for additional staff on roles and responsibilities, and performance 
reporting from Rosherville to the Shareholder Board.

No recommendations due prior to 30 
September 2021.

Garden Waste 
Collection Service

Opinion Green.
One low priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to arrangements being made for a review of the procedures to collect 
garden waste bins from customers where necessary.

No recommendations due prior to 30 
September 2021.

P
age 153



Page 16 of 18

Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit title Recommendation Priority Planned 
implementation 

date

Management update

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Information about flexi time and TOIL on 
the intranet should be reviewed and a 
central document created and circulated 
to staff; in addition to the information 
already provided on the intranet, this 
should include:
- guidance regarding the operation of 
TOIL, including eligibility, the rate at 
which time can be re-claimed and how 
this should be recorded;
- clarification on whether a timesheet 
needs to be completed by employees 
who are not taking part in the flexi 
scheme;
- the requirement to book flexi leave and 
TOIL on SS4U, including clarification on 
the recording of part-days;
- additional information / examples on 
how time should be recorded on days 
when personal appointments have 
occurred;
- responsibility for completing 
timesheets, including updating the 
templates;
- a reminder for staff that that they 
should ensure the correct number of 
hours are recorded for a standard 
working day / half day;
- the requirement to give an explanation 
for any authorised adjustments.

High 31 December 
2020

Roll out of the Hybrid Working policy has been 
delayed. We are anticipating this will be circulated 
shortly with an expected implementation date of 
1 Nov (latest).

P
age 154



Page 17 of 18

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Following the circulation of the guidance 
recommended at R1, line managers 
should be reminded of their role in 
ensuring that this is adhered to, by 
checking and signing-off timesheets on a 
monthly basis, as well as how they should 
deal with any concerns.

High 31 December 
2020

Roll out of the Hybrid Working policy has been 
delayed. We are anticipating this will be circulated 
shortly with an expected implementation date of 
1 Nov (latest).

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

A council overtime policy document 
should be created, highlighting the Green 
Book section on overtime and reiterating 
the correct rates of pay and the Working 
Time Directive. The policy should include 
the process for claiming overtime. This 
document along with a copy of the 
Conditions of Service of the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services 
(Green Book) should be made available 
on the intranet.

High 31 December 
2020

Roll out of the Hybrid Working policy has been 
delayed. We are anticipating this will be circulated 
shortly with an expected implementation date of 
1 Nov (latest).

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Service managers should be reminded of 
the overtime rates including the 
guidelines for part-time staff and also the 
Working Time Directive.

High 31 December 
2020

Roll out of the Hybrid Working policy has been 
delayed. We are anticipating this will be circulated 
shortly with an expected implementation date of 
1 Nov (latest).

P
age 155



Appendix A

Page 18 of 18

Definitions of audit opinions & recommendation 
priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 156


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	6 General Fund Budget Monitoring Q2
	BMR  Appendix 2 MTFP- Q2 2021-22 General Fund Cabinet
	BMR - Appendix 3 Investments Q2 2021-22 General Fund Cabinet  (2)

	7 HRA Budget Monitoring Q2
	Appendix 2 - HRA Business Plan Capital
	Appendix 3 - HRA Business Plan Revenue

	8 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review
	9 Corporate Risk Register - Mid Year Review
	Appendix II Corporate Risk Register 2021 22
	Appendix III Mid-Year Review

	10 CIPFA Financial Management Code Update
	CIPFA FM Code Appendix 2

	11 Procurement of External Audit (PSAA)
	Appendix 2 Gravesham Borough Council PSAA Invitation letter

	12 Audit and Counter Fraud Update
	2. Appendix 2 - A&CF Update 01 Aug 2021 to 30 Sep 2021


